Town of Lyman Select Board Regular Meeting Agenda Monday, April 1st, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall

Welcome to the April 1st, 2024, Regular Meeting of The Lyman Select Board.

This meeting is a public proceeding and is being recorded.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT

- a. Public Input Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board. Please use the podium to address the board and please be respectful of others
- b. Mail

ITEM #3 MINUTES

a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 3/18/2024

ITEM #4 SIGN WARRANTS

- a. Payroll Warrant #37 in the amount of \$27,247.23
- b. Accounts Payable Warrant #38 (FY2024) in the amount of \$647,375.80

ITEM #5 UNFINISHED BUSINESS

- a. Franchise Agreement, Updates if any
- b. Discuss Bunganut Booth Repairs, updates if any, Tabled for more information
- c. Review draft personnel policy

ITEM #6 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS

a. Fire Chief - GMFR Request for funds (\$500) for Hydrant Study at Kennebunk Pond

ITEM #7 NEW BUSINESS

- a. Review/ Approve Propane rate quotes
- b. Discuss Annual Town Meeting date and time

EXCECUTIVE SESSION

OTHER

ADJOURN

ITEM #3: (a.) Minutes

Town of Lyman
Select Board Meeting Minutes
March 18th, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall

These are summary minutes in nature only and a full video recording of the proceeding is available to view on our YouTube channel at https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams or visit our website:

https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/

Selectboard members present: Rusty "Ralph" Blackington (Chair), Thomas Hatch (Vice Chair), Jessica Picard,

Amber Swett, Victoria Gavel

Selectboard members absent: none

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS

a. Public Hearing regarding amendments on the Franchise Ordinance

Joe Wagner – Asks if the proposed ordinance references a franchise fee, or if it requires a franchise fee to be imposed.

Tony Vigue – States the ordinance allows the town to decide if requiring a franchise fee or not. **There are no further comments, and the public hearing is closed**.

Jessica Picard – Motions to take Item#5 (a.) out of order. Amber Swett seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0

ITEM #5: (a.) Franchise Agreement, Updates if any – Public Hearing scheduled March 18th, 2024

Tony Vigue – Provides some updates to new law changes regarding Cable Franchise Providers. An Act to support municipal franchise agreements, LD 1967, has passed. The law will go in effect ninety days from the end of this session, which will be approximately sometime in July. Part of the law helps maintain municipal control over the public right of ways, adds a dispute resolution process that is new, guarantees buildout provisions of fifteen homes per mile or more, adds corrections of errors in the existing law, allows Towns to collect franchise fees from cable companies on a quarterly basis, and other changes. The ordinance that the Board enacted sets up the parameters for the contract franchise agreement.

Jessica Picard – Motions to approve the amendments to the Cable Television Ordinance. Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT

- a. Public Input Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.
 Please use the podium to address the board and please be respectful of others
 Joe Wagner Discusses the agenda item regarding appointing an HR and Finance Officer stating his opinion of the details of the positions and refers to specific Municipal Charter provisions.
- b. Mail •County Budget Committee Caucus •Wayne Perry Letter
 Discussion about the Cemetery Committee and a letter from Wayne Perry commending all their
 work and diligence preserving ancient cemeteries. The York County Budget caucus has two seats
 open for Lyman representatives to be elected. Victoria gavel was interested and will also approach
 another individual in effort to solicit volunteers.

ITEM #3 MINUTES

a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 3/7/2024

Thomas Hatch – Motions to approve the meeting minutes. Victoria Gavel seconds. Motion passes: 4-0-1 (Ralph Blackington, Thomas Hatch, Amber Swett, Victoria Gavel in favor; Jessica Picard abstains, she was not present at said meeting).

Town of Lyman Select Board Meeting Minutes March 18th, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall

ITEM #4 SIGN WARRANTS

a. Payroll Warrant #35 in the amount of \$28,272.80

Victoria Gavel – Motions to approve. Jessica Picard seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0

b. Accounts Payable Warrant #36 (FY2024) in the amount of \$52,132.34

Victoria Gavel – Motions to approve. Jessica Picard seconds. Discussion Municipal Solid waste cost was \$9,902.40 which has gone down a little, and Recycling costs were \$415.35 Motion passes: 5-0-0

ITEM #5 UNFINISHED BUSINESS

- a. Franchise Agreement, Updates if any Public Hearing scheduled March 18th, 2024 Item motioned out of order. See above Item #1 (a.)
- b. Discuss Bunganut Booth Repairs, updates if any, Tabled for more information There is discussion about using a different vendor from Vermont. Given the quotes received, some materials can be taken off such as insulation and the interior pine panels to minimize costs. Some vendors are further out than others in terms of product availability and delivery. The windows on the sides will need to be a specific size to facilitate money transactions through the window. An egress window may need to be installed. Ralph Blackington agreed to write up a specification sheet and Linday Gagne will reach out to the vendors asking for specific costs on each line item. Item will continue to be reviewed at the next meeting.
- c. Review draft personnel policy Workshop scheduled March 19th, 2024 at 6:00pm Workshop scheduled for March 19th, 2024. No new updates.
- d. Dedication for Annual Town Report Review Survey Results Discussion the board will choose a candidate to dedicate the Town Report which will remain anonymous until the Town Report is printed.

ITEM #6 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS

- a. Treasurer Expense Report Report reviewed in agenda packet.
- b. Fire Chief GMFR Report

Matt Duross – Requests funds out of the GMFR Building Capitol Reserve for Lyman's total share of \$1,608.78 for circulator pumps.

Thomas Hatch – Motions to approve \$1,608.78 out of GMFR Building Capitol Reserve for the invoice for circulator pumps.

Jessica Picard – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

- c. Tax Collector Monthly Report Report reviewed in agenda packet.
- d. Parks and Recs Monthly Report

Holly Hart – States there is an Easter Egg Hunt event coming up on March 24th. The Ice Rink has been taken down for the Winter. Concert in the Park bands have been booked for the Summer for Thursdays. First Concert is scheduled for the second Thursday in July.

ITEM #7 NEW BUSINESS

a. Discussion – Chadborne Field Improvements. Massabesic Little Leage

Greg Mitchell – Is a representative of the Massabesic Little League as their president and is offering to help the Town restore the Chadborne Field. He would recommend turning it into a softball field. They would also help to restore the dugouts and benches. They will help split the costs of tearing up the field and restoring it.

Holly Hart – States the Eagle Scout that was working with her on a project for Chadborne Field will no longer be working on the project.

Amber Swett – States the parking at the library may be a concern. Although there is parking at the Town Hall with the path to the library and in the past people have parked on the side of the road.

Town of Lyman Select Board Meeting Minutes March 18th, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall

Victoria Gavel – States there may be some concern modifying the field in that Babe Ruth teams would not be able to play. There is some discussion if there are any more Babe Ruth Teams.

Jessica Picard – Makes a motion for Tom Hatch to be the Liaison from the Select Board to work with Massabesic Little League on this project.

Amber Swet - Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

b. Review/Approve Pole Permit CMP

Thomas Hatch – Motions to approve pole permit. Amber Swett seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0

c. Appointment Interim Code Enforcement Officer, Building Inspector & Plumbing Inspector

Thomas Hatch – Motions to appoint Jim Roberts as the interim Code Enforcement Officer, Building Inspector, and Plumbing Inspector.

Jessica Picard – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

d. Appointment Finance & Human Resources Officer

Discussion about any potential financial impact on the position and clarifying discussion from Budget Workshops.

Jessica Picard – Motions to appoint Jeanette Lemay as the Finance and Human Resources Officer. Thomas Hatch – Seconds the motion. There is discussion about this being a job title change and the board is not creating a new position. Motion passes: 5-0-0

- e. Write off real estate taxes, interests, & costs for Town-Owned properties
 - o Map 9, Lot 21-B for amount of \$3,534.13

Jessica Picard – Motions to write off real estate taxes, interest and costs for tax acquired property located at Map 9, Lot 21-B for amount of \$3,534.13

Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

Map 9, Lot 10 for the amount of \$6,121.89

Jessica Picard – Motions to write off real estate taxes, interest and costs for tax acquired property located at Map 9, Lot 10 for amount of \$6,121.89

Thomas Hatch - Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

Map 7, Lot 68 for the amount of \$3,679.13

Jessica Picard – Motions to write off real estate taxes, interest and costs for tax acquired property located at Map 7, Lot 68 for amount of \$3,679.13

Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

Map 3, Lot 9 for the amount of \$2,144.54

Jessica Picard – Motions to write off real estate taxes, interest and costs for tax acquired property located at Map 3, Lot 9 for amount of \$2,144.54

Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

Map 3, Lot 46 for the amount of \$4,508.00

Jessica Picard – Motions to write off real estate taxes, interest and costs for tax acquired property located at Map 3, Lot 46 for amount of \$4,508.00 Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

Map 12, Lot 2 for the amount of \$4,225.67

Jessica Picard – Motions to write off real estate taxes, interest and costs for tax acquired property located at Map 12, Lot 2 for amount of \$4,225.67 Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

Map 11, Lot 39-1 for the amount of \$4,015.13

Jessica Picard – Motions to write off real estate taxes, interest and costs for tax acquired property located at Map 11, Lot 39-1 for amount of \$4,015.13

Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

Town of Lyman Select Board Meeting Minutes March 18th, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall

Map 6, Lot 24-5 for the amount of \$2,035.95

Jessica Picard – Motions to write off real estate taxes, interest and costs for tax acquired property located at Map 6, Lot 24-5 for amount of \$2,035.95 Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

O Map 4, Lot 7-1 for the amount of \$650.28

Jessica Picard – Motions to write off real estate taxes, interest and costs for tax acquired property located at Map 4, Lot 7-1 for amount of \$650.28 Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

EXCECUTIVE SESSION

1.M.R.S.A §405 (A) Discussion regarding personnel matters

1.M.R.S.A §405 (C) Discussion regarding acquisition of real property

Jessica Picard – Motions to go into executive session per 1 M.R.S.A §405 (A) discussion regarding personnel matters and 1 M.R.S.A §405 (C) discussion regarding acquisition of real property.

Amber Swett – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

Jessica Picard – Motions to come out of executive session. Thomas Hatch seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0

OTHER

ADJOURN

Jessica Picard – iviotions to adjourn. Amber	Swett seconds. Mo	tions passes: 5-0-0

	Amber Swett
Rusty "Ralph" Blackington	
	Jessica Picard
Thomas Hatch	
	Victoria Gavel
I, Lindsay Gagne, Town Manager of the Town of Lyman, Maine, do he are the original minutes of the Select Board Meeting dated March 18	
Lindsay Gagne	

ITEM #4: (a.) Payroll Warrant

LYMAN 9:12 AM

Payroll Check Register

Pay Date: 04/03/2024

03/28/2024 Page 1

	Check	D/D	Check	Amount	Date		Employee
			Em	ployee Check	s		
	1	1,659.35	0.00	1,659.35	04/03/24		79 SUSAN 3 BELLEROSE
	2 1,187.49		0.00	1,187.49	04/03/24		025 THOMAS M CROTEAU
	3	153.54	0.00	153.54	04/03/24		100 KELLY J DEMERS
	4	974.28	0.00	974.28	04/03/24		12 MARCEL DESROSIERS
	5	130.68	0.00	130.68	04/03/24		043 CECILE M DUPUIS
	6	2,461.97	0.00	2, 4 61.97	04/03/24		028 LINDSAY GAGNE
	7	1,875.46	0.00	1,875.46	04/03/24		016 LAURIE L GONSKA
	8	211.81	0.00	211.81	04/03/24		117 PAUL HAKALA
	9	199.28	0.00	199.28	04/03/24		74 DONALD M HERNON
	10	259.30	0.00	259.30	04/03/24		007 THOMAS M HOLLAND
	11	1,923.07	0.00	1,923.07	04/03/24		015 JEANETTE E LEMAY
	12	805.79	0.00	805.79	04/03/24		036 JULIE LEMIEUX
	13	1,248.10	0.00	1,248.10	04/03/24		041 RANDALL L MURRAY
	14	363.56	0.00	363.56	04/03/24		19 BRIAN D. RACICOT
	15	462.78	0.00	462.78	04/03/24		123 KYLE D RACICOT
	16	423.88	0.00	423.88	04/03/24		002 DAVID W RILEY
	17	428.28	0.00	428.28	04/03/24		024 JAMES ROBERTS
	18	146.80	0.00	146.80	04/03/24		020 DAVID H SANTORA
	19	199-28	0.00	199.28	04/03/24		010 WILLIAM P SINGLE
	20	1,671.11	0.00	1,671.11	04/03/24		037 REBEKAH S THOMPSON
	21	215.87	0.00	215.87	04/03/24		40 RAYMOND J VALLIERE
	22	199.28	0.00	199.28	04/03/24		173 KEVIN A VEILLEUX
_	23	199.28	0.00	199.28	04/03/24		46 JOSEPH A WAGNER
Total		17,400.24	0.00	17,400.24			
			Direc	t Deposit Che	cks		
	24	0.00	17,400.24	17,400.24	04/03/24		D / D 1 BIDDEFORD SAVINGS BANK
Total		0.00	17,400.24	17,400.24			
			Trust	& Agency Che	ecks		
	25	0.00	5,895.82	5,895.82	04/03/24		T & A 1 I.R.S.
	26	0.00	1,221.73	1,221.73	04/03/24		T & A 3 ICMA
	27	0.00	1,033.14	1,033.14	04/03/24		T & A 2 MAINE REVENUE SERVICES
	28	0.00	1,696.30	1,696.30	04/03/24		T & A 9 MPERS
Total		0.00	9,846.99	9,846.99	0		
				Summary			
		Checks:	Regular	0.00	0	23	
			D/D	17,400.24		1	
			Employee	17,400.24			
			T & A	9,846.99		4	
			Voided	5,0.015.	-	0_	
			Total	27,247.23	3	28	
			· Othi	a,,27,12,	•		

WARRANT: 37

Check	D/D	Check	Emplovee	Gross Pay
1	1,659.35	0.00	79 SUSAN J BELLEROSE	2,379.00
2	1,187.49	0.00	025 THOMAS M CROTEAU	1,744.83
3	153.54	0.00	100 KELLY 3 DEMERS	166.26
4	974.28	0.00	12 MARCEL DESROSIERS	1,222.61
5	130.68	0.00	043 CECILE M DUPUIS	141.50
6	2,461.97	0.00	028 LINDSAY GAGNE	3,494.23
7	1,875.46	0.00	016 LAURIE L GONSKA	2,913.46
8	211.81	0.00	117 PAUL HAKALA	283.50
9	199.28	0.00	74 DONALD M HERNON	215.79
10	259.30	0.00	007 THOMAS M HOLLAND	286.85
11	1,923.07	0.00	015 JEANETTE E LEMAY	2,734.62
12	805.79	0.00	036 JULIE LEMIEUX	1,092.00
13	1,248.10	0.00	041 RANDALL L MURRAY	1,960.80
14	363.56	0.00	19 BRIAN D. RACICOT	449.23
15	462.78	0.00	123 KYLE D RACICOT	552.00
16	423.88	0.00	002 DAVID W RILEY	459.00
17	428.28	0.00	024 JAMES ROBERTS	463.75
18	146.80	0.00	020 DAVID H SANTORA	158.95
19	199.28	0.00	010 WILLIAM P SINGLE	215.79
20	1,671.11	0.00	037 REBEKAH S THOMPSON	2,568.88
21	215.87	0.00	40 RAYMOND J VALLIERE	233.75
22	199.28	0.00	173 KEVIN A VEILLEUX	215.79
23	199.28	0.00	46 JOSEPH A WAGNER	215.79
24	0.00	17,400.24	D / D 1 BIDDEFORD SAVINGS BANK	
25	0.00	5,895.82	T & A 1 I.R.S.	
26	0.00	1,221.73	T & A 3 ICMA	
27	0.00	1,033.14	T & A 2 MAINE REVENUE SERVICES	
28	0.00	1,696.30	T & A 9 MPERS	
Total	17,400.24	27,247.23	- -	24,168.38
ut into A/P		10,115.92		

Put into A/P	10,115.92
Taken out of A/P	(9,846.99)
Total Payroll	27,516.16

	Count	
Checks		28

TO THE MUNICIPAL TREASURER OF LYMAN, MAINE: THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THERE IS DUE AND CHARGEABLE TO THE APPROPRIATIONS LISTED ABOVE THE SUM AGAINST EACH NAME AND YOU ARE DIRECTED TO PAY UNTO THE PARTIES NAMED IN THIS SCHEDULE.

	TOWM OF LYMAN, BOARD OF SELECTMEN
RALPH BLACKINGTON	
THOMAS HATCH	
JESSICA PICARD	
VICTORIA GAVEL	
AMBER SWETT	

ITEM #4: (b.) AP Warrant

Lyman 11:09 AM

A / P Check Register

Bank: BIDDEFORD SAVINGS

03/28/2024 Page 1

Туре	Check	Amount	Date	Wrnt	Payee
P	10488	18,945.96	03/19/24	38	0569 SECRETARY OF STATE
Р	10489	10,992.93	03/22/24	38	0569 SECRETARY OF STATE
Р	10490	864.26	03/26/24	38	0342 HOLLY HART
R	10491	153.96	03/28/24	38	0218 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES
R	10492	2,450.00	03/28/24	38	0022 BEAN DATA
R	10493	717.50	03/28/24	38	1046 BOURQUE & CLEGG LLC
R	10494	32.00	03/28/24	38	0994 CINTAS CORPORATION- # 758
R	10495	40.00	03/28/24	38	0136 CMAAO
R	10496	125.00	03/28/24	38	0211 CRIPPLE CREEK CORPORATION
R	10497	3,990.80	03/28/24	38	0287 CUSTOM CONCEPTS INC
R	10498	1,243.33	03/28/24	38	0133 DAVID W. RILEY
R	10499	40,500.00	03/28/24	38	0248 DAYTON SNOW FIGHTERS INC.
R	10500	14,710.85	03/28/24	38	0024 EASTERN SALT COMPANY INC
R	10501	52,515.92	03/28/24	38	0000 GOODWINS MILLS FIRE & RESCUE
Ŕ	10502	1,608.80	03/28/24	38	0233 GOODWINS MILLS FIRE & RESCUE
R	10503	8,138.96	03/28/24	38	0000 GT SCAPES
R	10504	748.03	03/28/24	38	0291 GT SCAPES
R	10505	516.57	03/28/24	38	0072 GWI
R	10506	61.37	03/28/24	38	0316 JAMES ROBERTS
R	10507	5,554.40	03/28/24	38	0311 KCB LANDSCAPING
R	10508	11.39	03/28/24	38	0290 KELLY, EILEEN
R	10509	4,034.78	03/28/24	38	0080 LENOVO
R	10510	35.00	03/28/24	38	0367 MAAO
R	10511	7,003.80	03/28/24	38	0376 MMEHT
R	10512	70.00	03/28/24	38	0414 MAINE MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION
R	10513	500.00	03/28/24	38	0086 MAINE SECRETARY OF STATE
R	10514	584.11	03/28/24	38	1111 MARCEL DESROSIERS
R	10515	209.87	03/28/24	38	0084 READYREFRESH BY NESTLE
R	10516	19.00	03/28/24	38	0502 REGISTRY OF DEEDS
R	10517	466,437.06	03/28/24	38	0419 RSU #57
R	10518	5.00	03/28/24	38	0569 SECRETARY OF STATE
R	10519	341.26	03/28/24	38	0580 SMPDC
R	10520	3,000.00	03/28/24	38	0277 TINKER TOM EXCAVATOR
R	10521	87.83	03/28/24	38	0985 WARRENS OFFICE SUPPLIES
R	10522	15.00	03/28/24	38	0192 YORK COUNTY TOWN&CITY CLERK'S ASSOC
Р	99999	97.02	03/28/24	38	0095 CARDMEMBER SERVICE
Р	99999	487.72	03/28/24	38	0095 CARDMEMBER SERVICE
Р	99999	501.34	03/28/24	38	0095 CARDMEMBER SERVICE
Р	99999	24.98	03/28/24	38	0095 CARDMEMBER SERVICE
	Total	647,375.80			

Count						
Checks	39					
Voids	0					

A / P Warrant

Page 1

Jrnl	Check	Month	Invoice De	scription	Reference	
Description			Account	Proj	Amount	Encumbrance
0218 AMAZON CAPI	FAL SERVIC	ES				
0485	10491	04	SUPPLIES		1G46-6H3K-PNWD	
SUPPLIES			E 110-11-60-610		36.98	0.00
	SUP	PLIES / S	SUPPLIES			
0.405	10401			Invoice Total-	36.98	
0485	10491	04	SUPPLIES E 110-11-60-610		1JL1-G3PV-GXF4	0.00
SUPPLIES	SUP	PLIES / S			116.98	0.00
		,		Invoice Total-	116.98	
				Vendor Total-	153.96	
0022 BEAN DATA						
0485	10492	0.4	APRIL		1627	
APRIL		•	E 110-11-32-310		2,450.00	2,290.00
	CTR	CT SVS E	Q / PROF SVS		_,	2,250100
				Vendor Total-	2,450.00	
1046 BOURQUE & C	LEGG LLC					
0485	10493	04	SERVICES		45671	
SERVICES			E 181-11-33-320		717.50	0.00
	CON	T PROF /	PROF SERV LE			
				Vendor Total-	717.50	
0095 CARDMEMBER	SERVICE					
0485	99999	04	VISTA PRINT		VP_WRMBHW10	
VISTA PRINT			E 110-11-80-830		97.02	0.00
	ADV	ER, PRIN	T / FORMS			
0.405				Invoice Total-	97.02	
0485	99999	04	STAMPS.COM		03/19	
STAMPS.COM	ÇIID	PLIES / :	E 110-11-60-650		487.72	0.00
	501	IDIES /	COSTAGE	Invoice Total-	487.72	
0485	99999	04	SUPPLIES	invoice local	03/21/2024	
SUPPLIES			E 161-21-90-940		501.34	0.00
	OTH	ER / REC	PROGRAMS		301.34	0,00
				Invoice Total-	501.34	
0485	99999	04	BROWNING/WIF	RELESS	20240327-A70955	
BROWNING/WIREI			E 161-22-50-580		24.98	0.00
	UTI	LITIES /	COMM			
				Invoice Total-	24.98	
00004 GTVW10 G00				Vendor Total-	1,111.06	
00994 CINTAS CORP						
0485	10494	04	13117643		4186807247	
RUGS-TH	CMD	om atta b	E 141-11-31-310		32.00	0.00
	CIR	CT SVS B	L / PROF SVS	Vendor Total-	20.00	
00136 CMAAO		-		vendor Total-	32.00	
	10405					
0485	10495	04	TRAINING		04/11	
DID A TAXESCO			E 102-11-20-280		40.00	0.00
TRAINING	БЕИ	ר פתוקם	TRAINING		40.00	0.00

Check Month Jrnl Invoice Description Reference Description Account Amount Proj Encumbrance 00211 CRIPPLE CREEK CORPORATION 0485 10496 CRIPMAY2024 MAY E 110-11-39-399 MAY 125.00 125.00 CONT SVS OTH / OTHER Vendor Total-125.00 00287 CUSTOM CONCEPTS INC SERVICES 0485 10497 0.4 414855 SERVICES E 181-11-37-399 694.00 0.00 CONT OUT / CONT SVS OTH Invoice Total-694.00 0485 10497 04 CIVIL ENGINEERING SERVICE 2504 E 181-11-37-399 CIVIL ENGINEERING SERVICE 3,296.80 0.00 CONT OUT / CONT SVS OTH Invoice Total-3,296.80 Vendor Total-3,990.80 00133 DAVID W. RILEY 0485 10498 04 SERVICES 49 ROADS - SIGNS E 148-51-60-670 65.00 0.00 SUPPLIES / SIGNS Invoice Total-65.00 SERVICES 0485 10498 04 47 PLOWING/SHOVEL TH E 143-11-31-360 773.33 0.00 CTRCT SVS BL / PLOW & SAND TOWN HALL TRASH E 145-11-31-330 35.00 0.00 CTRCT SVS BL / WASTE SVS MOVING E 141-11-31-310 80.00 0.00 CTRCT SVS BL / PROF SVS Invoice Total-888.33 0485 10498 04 SERVICES 50 FUELING E 150-31-35-310 40.00 0.00 CTRCT SVS WA / PROF SVS Invoice Total-40.00 SERVICES 10498 04 0485 48 P&R TRASH REMOVAL E 145-21-31-330 75.00 0.00 CTRCT SVS BL / WASTE SVS PLOWING P&R E 143-23-31-360 75.00 0.00 CTRCT SVS BL / PLOW & SAND TOWN HALL TRASH E 145-11-31-330 100.00 0.00 CTRCT SVS BL / WASTE SVS Invoice Total-250.00 Vendor Total-1,243.33 00248 DAYTON SNOW FIGHTERS INC. 0485 10499 04 APRIL DAYAPR2024 APRIL E 143-51-31-360 40,500.00 40,500.00 CTRCT SVS BL / PLOW & SAND Vendor Total-40,500.00 00024 EASTERN SALT COMPANY INC 0485 10500 04 SALT LYMANM05 137164 SALT LYMANM05 E 143-51-31-360 14,710.85 0.00 CTRCT SVS BL / PLOW & SAND

Jrnl	Check Mo	onth	Invoice Des	cription	Reference	
Description			Account	Proj	Amount	Encumbrance
				Vendor Total-	14,710.85	
00000 GOODWINS MI	LLS FIRE & R	ESCUE				
0485	10501	04	APRIL		GMFRAPR24	
APRIL		,	E 186-91-37-392		16,185.25	16,185.25
APRIL	CONT	OUT /	GMFR CONTRAC E 186-91-37-391		36,330.67	36,330.67
	CONT	OUT /	GMFR PERSONN			
				Vendor Total-	52,515.92	
00233 GOODWINS MI	LLS FIRE & R	ESCUE				
0485	10502	04	MAINTENANCE		S295541	
PARTS AND LABO	R		E 718-87-90-999		1,608.80	0.00
	GMFR :	F / RES	ERVES - G - OTHER /			
				Vendor Total-	1,608.80	
00000 GT SCAPES						
0485	10503	04	CONTRACT PAY		GTSCAPESAPR	
CONTRACT PAY	FFD -	EOULDM	E 551-84-70-790 ENT / OTHER EQUIP		8,138.96	8,138.96
	נום	ngoir	ENI / OTHER EQUIF	Vendor Total-	8,138.96	
00291 GT SCAPES						
0485	10504	04	MATERIALS		081	
MATERIALS			E 551-84-70-790		748.03	0.00
	FED -	EQUIPM	ENT / OTHER EQUIP			J. 0
				Vendor Total-	748.03	
00072 GWI						
0485	10505	04	205773		6431055	
205773			E 110-11-50-580		516.57	0.00
	UTILI	TIES /	COMM			
00342 HOLLY HART		-		Vendor Total-	516.57	
0485		04	ACH RETURNED	-PAYROLL PAY	03/20 PAYROLL	
ACH RETURNED -			E 101-21-10-127 EC DIRECT		864.26	0.00
				Vendor Total-	864.26	
00316 JAMES ROBER	TS					
0485	10506	04	MILEAGE		03/15-03/26	
MILEAGE			E 110-11-90-910		61.37	0.00
	OTHER	/ MILE	EAGE/TRAV			
				Vendor Total-	61.37	
00311 KCB LANDSCA	PING					
0485	10507	04	MOWING APR 24	Į.	KCBAPR24	
MOWING APR 24			E 142-90-31-370		5,554.40	5,554.40
	CTRCT	SVS BI	/ MOWING			
00200 MB11A =				Vendor Total-	5,554.40	
00290 KELLY, EILE						
0485	10508	04			02/16	
MILEAGE	∪سمقة با	/ MTTT	E 110-11-90-910 CAGE/TRAV		11.39	0.00
	OTHER	/ MITPE	AGE/TRAV			

Jrnl		Month	Invoice De	_		**
Description			Account	Proj	Amount	Encumbrance
		2		Vendor Total-	11.39	
00080 LENOVO						
0485	10509	04	THINKPAD 168	199	1448	
THINKPAD 16899			E 191-11-70-710		1,531.18	0.00
	ΕQU	JIPMENT /	COMP EQUIP	Invoice Total-	1,531.18	
0485	10509	0.4	THINKPAD 068		1,331.16	
THINKPAD 06819		0.1	E 191-11-70-710	,13	1,531.18	0.00
		JIPMENT /	COMP EQUIP		1,001.10	0.00
				Invoice Total-	1,531.18	
0485	10509	04	THINKPAD 068	317	1446	
THINKPAD 06817		TT DMFNIT	E 191-11-70-710 COMP EQUIP		972.42	972.42
	בע	/IIIIIIII /	COM EQUIT	Invoice Total-	972.42	
				Vendor Total-	4,034.78	
00367 M A A O						
0485	10510	0.4	TRAINING		1000459747	
TRAINING	10010	0.1	E 102-11-20-280		35.00	0.00
	BEN	NEFITS /	TRAINING		33.00	0.00
		-		Vendor Total-	35.00	
00376 M M E H T						
0485	10511	04	MHT.31171		APRIL	
INSURANCE-EMPI	LOYEE		G 1-205-00		500.61	0.00
	BE	ENFTS-EM				
HEALTH	BEN	NEFITS /	E 102-99-20-210		6,214.65	0.00
DENTAL	DEI	VEFTIS /	E 102-99-20-211		262.74	0.00
	BEN	NEFITS /				
LIFE NO MED	DEN	ARRIMO /	E 102-99-20-214		25.80	0.00
	551	NEETIS /	LIFE NO MED	Vendor Total-	7 000 00	
00414 MAINE MUNIC	אפפא זגפדי	CTARTON		vendor lotal-	7,003.80	
33170	10512		31170		1000459437	
33170	BEN		E 102-11-20-280 TRAINING		70.00	0.00
		,		Vendor Total-	70.00	
00086 MAINE SECRE	TARY OF S	TATE			=======================================	
			EQUIPMENT RE	ד ג חוד ב	0006 7 222727	
EQUIPMENT RENT			E 115-13-39-399	PNIAT	2024-LYMAN	2.00
			TH / OTHER		500.00	0.00
				Vendor Total-	500.00	
01111 MARCEL DESE	ROSIERS					
0485	10514	04	MILEAGE		02/27-03/27	
MILEAGE		•	E 110-11-90-911		584.11	0.00
	OTH	HER / M	I/TRAV ELE		304.11	0.00
				Vendor Total-	584.11	
00084 READYREFRES	H BY NEST	LE				
0485	10515	04	0427507058		24C0427507058	

03/28/2024

Page 5

Description			Account	Proj	Amount	Encumbrance
H20 0427507058	3		E 110-11-60-610		209.87	0.00
	SUP	PLIES / S	UPPLIES		·	
				Vendor Total-	209.87	
0502 REGISTRY OF	DEEDS					
0485	10516	04	DISCHARGE		MARCH	
DISCHARGES			E 110-11-39-399		19.00	0.00
	CON	T SVS OTH	/ OTHER		(
				Vendor Total-	19.00	
0419 RSU #57						
0485	10517	04	APRIL		SCHLAPR2024	
APRIL	OME	ED / MIGG	E 195-92-90-999		466,437.06	466,437.06
	OTH	ER / MISC	;	Vendor Total-	466,437.06	
0569 SECRETARY OF	e cmamp			Vendor Total-	400,437.00	
		0.4	04450			
0485 31170	10488	04	31170 G 1-250-00		03/7-03/14	2.00
31170	MT	R VEHICLE			18,945.96	0.00
				Invoice Total-	18,945.96	
0485	10489	04	31170		03/14-03/21	
31170			G 1-250-00		10,992.93	0.00
	MT	'R VEHICLE	}			
0.405	10510			Invoice Total-	10,992.93	
0485	10518	04	SUPPLIES		31170-002	*** SEPARATE **
SUPPLIES	SHE	PLIES / S	E 110-11-60-610		5.00	0.00
		,		Invoice Total-	5.00	
				Vendor Total-	29,943.89	
0580 SMPDC						
0485	10519	04	ORDINANCE RE	CVIEW	17209	
ORDINANCE REVI	EW		E 110-19-90-999		341,26	0.00
	OTH	HER / MISC				
		-		Vendor Total-	341.26	
00277 TINKER TOM I	EXCAVATOR					
0485	10520	04	MAINTANENCE		0025	
MAINTANENCE			E 131-51-40-483		3,000.00	0.00
	REF	PAIRS & MA	A / RDS/REPAIRS			
				Vendor Total-	3,000.00	
0985 WARRENS OFF						
0485	10521	04	SUPPLIES		528043-00	
TOWLYM	CIII		E 110-11-60-610		49.99	0.00
	106	PPLIES / S	OCERTES	Invoice Total-	49.99	
0485	10521	04	TOWLYM	orce rocara	49.99 528217-00	
TOWLYM		-	E 110-11-60-610		37.84	0.00
	SUE	PPLIES / S			57.04	0.00
				Invoice Total-	37.84	
				Vendor Total-	87.83	

Jrnl	Check	Month	Invoice De	escription	Reference	
Description			Account	Proj	Amount	Encumbrance
0485	10522	04	MEMBERSHIP		2024-2025	
MEMBERSHIP	BE	NEFITS /	E 102-11-20-290 MEMB & DUES		15.00	0.00
				Vendor Total-	15.00	
				Prepaid Total-	31,914.21	
				Current Total-	615,461.59	
				EFT Total-	0.00	
				Warrant Total-	647,375.80	

TO THE MUNICIPAL TREASURER OF LYMAN, MAINE: THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THERE
IS DUE AND CHARGEABLE TO THE APPROPRIATIONS LISTED ABOVE THE SUM AGAINST EACH
NAME AND YOU ARE DIRECTED TO PAY UNTO THE PARTIES NAMED IN THIS SCHEDULE.

TOWM OF LYMAN, BOAR	D OF SELECTMEN
RALPH BLACKINGTON _	
THOMAS HATCH	
JESSICA PICARD	
VICTORIA GAVEL	
AMBER SWETT	

ITEM #5: (b.) Bunganut Booth Repairs

Bunganut Booth Repairs

In the Fall the Booth at Bunganut Park was vandalized.

Insurance will cover the cost of repairs for \$4,393.59 with the Town paying a deductible of \$1,000. The cost of the deductible can come out of either account listed below:

Capital improvement Reserve Balance = \$116,305

Contingency Balance = \$2,500

Unless the Board would rather replace the booth entirely, insurance will not cover this expense. If the board chooses this route, funds would need to come from Capital Improvement.

2/5/24: Discussion at Select Board meeting - Bunganut Park Committee was looking into getting something donated. It's possible to do a variance appeal if replacing the booth. No new updates at this time.

2/20/24: Discussion from Select Board meeting - No updates on potential donations. Looking into quotes for a new shed.

3/7/24: Discussion from Select Board to look into additional costs for electrical hookup, windows, and what materials will be used. Variance not needed to replace existing footprint.

3/18/24: Discussion on getting quotes from another vendor and itemizing spec sheet.

Shed Happens and Hill View Mini Barns responded with quotes. No response from other vendors.

Shed Spec Sheet

Bunganut Park, Lyman, ME

Vendor/Contractor Name: Shed Happens, Inc. Phone Number: 207-494-7546
vendor/contractor realise.
Phone Number: 207-494-7546
Email: flather@ Snedhappens. Com

Item	Detail	Price
1	8x8 Shed , 7' tall walls	2992,00
2	36" x 6'8" Fiberglass door, upper window with no lites (Swing outward)	#794,00
3	2 Windows, on sides of shed: 48"w by 35"h 50 series sliding window. No lites (allows 24" wide opening and egress)	\$20.00
4	1 Window on front of shed: 33.75"w by 36.75"h 70 series. Double Hung. No lites	\$ 520.00
5	Roof Asphalt Shingles Option 35 year Black, Brown, Gray	inc.
6	Roof Metal Option Several Color options +	448,80
7	LP Smart Siding	inc.
8	Other Siding if other option available, please specify VINVL/LP Lap +	567.00
9	Delivery Fee (224 Brock Road Lyman, ME)	MC. \$0
10	Booking/ Delivery estimate how far out for scheduling	2 WKS +/

*

Shed Spec Sheet

Bunganut Park, Lyman, ME

Vendor/Contractor Name:	Hill View	Min, Barr	15
Phone Number: 207- 2			
Email: bradley.hillu	new minibarn	5.0 gmailice	on
		V	

Item	Detail	Price	
1	8x8 Shed , 7' tall walls	\$2305.00	
2	36" x 6'8" Fiberglass door, upper window with no lites (Swing outward)	\$510,00	,
3	2 Windows, on sides of shed: 48"w by 35"h 50 series sliding window. No lites (allows 24" wide opening and egress) 36x 36 Horrzontal Strater	9700.00 3 50 .00	
4	1 Window on front of shed: 33.75"w by 36.75"h 70 series. Double Hung. No lites	\$450.00	940
5	Roof Asphalt Shingles Option	included	
6	Roof Metal Option	included	
7	LP Smart Siding	Vyes	Pain
8	Other Siding if other option available, please specify	75	
9	Delivery Fee (224 Brock Road Lyman, ME)	95	
10	Booking/ Delivery estimate how far out for scheduling	4-5 lipoks	

Other notes:

We ofter a horizontal Slidding window 36x36

That I priced at \$350 each. The Window for 450 is a 36x60

egress single hung window. We also have smaller sizes it

needed. Our Standard gable verts are also included at \$24



1310 Stage Rd Etna, ME 04434 info@hillviewminibarns.com

www.hillviewminibarns.com 207-269-2800

Our other Maine sales locations:

Holden, ME 04429 Sabattus, ME 04280 Lyman, ME 04002

Estimate

Date Estimate # 3/27/2024 057463 Gray, ME 04039 Madison, ME 04950

Name / Delivery Address							De	liver To					
Town of Lymar 11 South Water Lyman,ME 040	boro Rd												
mfeliccitti@g	nfeliccitti@gmail.com Phone >> 207-247-0646					Alt. Phon	e >>	207-432-3	3114 Mic	Alt p	hone 2		
	Building color				Trim	Colo	r	Ro	of Co	olor		Rep	
												BAN	
Qty				Descr	ription	1					Price Ea	ch	Total
	~ 2 Pressu ~ Snow loa ~ Lifetime ~ TechShi ~ 5/50 LP	walls ad ra Arch eld ro Sma	s - 2x4 stud reated 4x4 ting of 90 P itectural or oof sheathir rtSide Sidin intech Floor	skids 2.S.F. Metal Roof ng ig (5 year full / 50 j	year _l	prorated)					2,305	7.00	2,305.00T
	Fiberglass Hinge **CONFIR	pre- M S	hung entrai	nce door solid 6 pr G AS SKETCH**					, -		510		510.00T
	2 36"x36" Horizontal sliding Vinyl insulated window no grids - White - Includes 1x4 trim 36"x60" Vertical sliding vinyl insulated window no grids - White - Includes 1x4 trim 2 Gable Vent 8x16							350 450 12		700.00T 450.00T 24.00T			
	Subtotal - Statewide		ame ery fee for t	8/10' wide							95	.00	3,989.00 95.00T
									Subtota	! 		!_	\$4,084.00
	A = 1 -	- l		<u> </u>	-16	!			Sales Ta	ах (0.0%)		\$0.00
	ASK US 8	BOOL	ut prepar	ring your grave	ei ba	ase!		'	Total				\$4,084.00
				d before the buildi d confirm that build									

responsible for any building permits by the town/city or state.

Hill View Mini Barns recommends a gravel base or a cement slab that's flat and level on which to put the building.

The driver is not responsible for cutting trees or branches, fences, or other obstacles that are in the way of getting to and placing the building in the desired location. There may be an additional charge of \$45.00 for each 1/2 hour for deliveries that take longer than 45 minutes. Hill View Mini Barns is not resposible for any property damage resulting from the delivery. Buildings cannot be placed under power lines.

Estimate is valid for 30 days from posted date.

Signature	Date

TOWN OF LYMAN



Employee Personnel Policy Handbook

TOWN OF LYMAN

Employee Personnel Policy Handbook

Table of Contents

SECTION	1: INTRODUCTION	
	1.1: Introduction and Purpose	1
	1.2: Mission Statement	1
	1.2: Municipal Code of Ethics	2
SECTION	2: EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT & INCLUSIVITY	
	2.1: Equal Opportunity Employment	2
	2:2: American's with Disabilities Act	3
	2.3: Pregnancy Worker's Fairness Act	3
	2.4: Process for sections 2.2 and 2.3	3
	2.5: Religious Accommodations	4
	2.6: Immigration Law Compliance	5
SECTION	3: NON-DISCRIMINATION AND HARRASSMENT	
	3.1: Non-Bullying Policy	5
	3.2: Harassment and Sexual Harassment	6
	3.3: Unlawful Discrimination	8
	3.4: Workplace Threats and Violence	8
	3.5: Complaint Procedure	9
	3.6: Whistle Blower's Protection Policy and Anti-Retaliation	10
SECTION	4: RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT	
	4.1: Recruitment Process	10
	4.2: Nepotism and Workplace Romance	11

	4.3: Employee Classification	12
	4.4: Job Descriptions	14
	4.5: New Employee Onboarding	15
	4.6: Probation	15
	4.7: Promotion	16
	4.8: Performance Evaluation	16
	4.9: Training	17
	4.10: Compensation	18
	4.11: Personnel File	18
	4.12: Resignation	19
	4.13: Layoffs	19
SECTIO	ON 5: DISCIPLINE AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION	
SECTIO	5.1: Discipline	20
	5.2: Grievance Procedure	
	5.2. Offevalice i foccuure	21
SECTIO	N 6: WORKPLACE GUIDELINES	
	6.1: Employee Conduct and Public Relations	23
	6.2: Professional Appearance	25
	6.3: Attendance and Punctuality	25
	6.4: Confidentiality	26
	6.5: Outside Employment	26
	6.6: Political Activity	26
	6.7: Conflict of Interest	27
	6.8: Solicitation	27
	6.9: Town Equipment and Materials	28
	6.10: Cell Phone Use	29
	6.11: Workplace Safety	29
	6.12: Social Media Use	30

	6.13: Technology – Acceptable Use Policy	30
	6.14: Purchasing Procedure Policy	30
	6.15: Inclement Weather and Emergency Closings	30
	6.16: Drug and Alcohol Policy	31
	6.17: Smoking	31
SECT	TION 7: PAYROLL AND WORK SCHEDULES	
	7.1: Payroll	32
	7.2: Time Cards and Time Clock	32
	7.3: Discretionary Time Off for Exempt Employees	33
	7.4: Temporary Telecommuting (Remote Work) Policy	33
	7.5: Pay at Separation	34
SECT	TION 8: BENEFITS	
	8.1: Health and Life Insurance	35
	8.2: Dental and Vision Insurance	36
	8.3: Income Protection Plan (IPP)	36
	8.4: Retirement	37
	8.5: Open Enrollment	37
	8.6: Worker's Compensation	38
	8.7: Unemployment	38
	8.8: Holidays	38
	8.9: Paid Time Off (PTO)	38
	8.10: Employee Recognition Program	40
SECT	TION 9: EMPLOYEE LEAVE	
	9.1: Personal days	40
	9.2: Earned Paid Leave (EPL)	41
	9.3: Extended Sick Leave	41
	9.3: Leave for Victims of Domestic Abuse	42

	9.4: Military Leave4	3
	9.5: Family Medical Leave	4
	9.6: Maine Family Medical Leave	7
	9.7: Parental Leave	7
	9.8: Bereavement	8
	9.9: Jury Duty4	8
	9.10: Life Threatening Illness	9
	9.12: Absent Without Leave 4	8
SECTION	N 10: REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES	
	10.1: Mileage Compensation Policy 4	9
	10.2: Meals, Lodging, and Other Travel Expenses	0
	10.3: Parking Fees and Tolls	0
	10.4: Reimbursement Procedure5	1
SECTION	N 11: MISCELLANEOUS	
	11.1: Freedom of Access Act Policy5	1
	11.2: Severability5	1
	11.3: Amendment	2
	11.4: Definitions	2

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1: Introduction and Purpose

Starting a new job is exciting, but at times can be overwhelming. This Personnel Policies and Procedures Handbook has been developed to help you get acquainted and answer many of your initial questions.

As an employee of the Town of Lyman, the importance of your contribution cannot be overstated. Our goal is to provide residents with the finest and most efficient service possible. You are an integral part of this process.

This Employee Personnel Policy Handbook is a resource to help you understand our organizational needs and expectations. Our business make up is service and we will strive to ensure we continue to provide citizens of Lyman with excellent services in the most efficient and effective manner possible. For this reason, it is important all persons conducting business on behalf of the Town, whether of an employee, board, committee, or volunteer status are expected to adhere to all Town policies and procedures.

This handbook includes policies and procedures for employee hiring and advancement, fringe benefits, retirement, employee leave policies, discipline and grievance processes, performance management, and other related policies. The policies in this handbook apply to all employees. These policies and procedures are not intended to and do not constitute a binding employment contract with any individual or group of employees. These policies and procedures are developed to provide reasonable assurances that all rights and benefits of employees and applicants for employment are protected and respected.

The rules, regulations, policies, and procedures in this handbook constitute the Town's Personnel Policy Handbook and they have been adopted for information and guidance and for use by the Town of Lyman Select Board, Town Manager (or Designee), Supervisor/Department Head, and Employees of the Town. The Town Manger (or Designee) is responsible for the administration of the provisions of this handbook and has the authority to take appropriate action in dealing with cases of violations of it.

In implementing this handbook, the Supervisor/Department Head of the Elements of Town Government, with approval of the Town Manager (or Designee), are authorized to generate and implement departmental rules and regulations supplemental to the policies in this manual. Such rules and regulations bear the same authority as the policies in this handbook.

1.2: Mission Statement

The Town of Lyman partners with our community members to deliver superior services in the most <u>effective</u> manner possible. We respect members of the public, each other, and

treat all with courtesy and dignity. We rely on teamwork to provide a seamless experience for all customers. We uphold high standards in our personal, professional, and organizational conduct. We continuously strive to meet the needs of our residents through available resources by being flexible and promoting the use of innovation. We accept responsibility for our personal and organizational decisions and actions. We openly communicate with the public and each other by sharing information.

Our Expectations of Excellent Services

- Listening to your customers and team members
- Timeliness Responsiveness
- Effective communications
- Taking ownership
- Creating a positive, helpful, friendly environment
- Teamwork
- Going above and beyond to help customer with their needs

1.3: Municipal Code of Ethics

The Municipal Code of Ethics applies to all Town officials whether elected, appointed, volunteering, or an employee of the Town. It is the responsibility of all employees to review and become familiar with the ethics policy and abide by it. Refer to policy labelled "Municipal Code of Ethics".

SECTION 2: EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT & INCLUSIVITY

2.1: Equal Opportunity Employment

The Town is committed to a policy of equal employment opportunity to all persons based on individual merit, competence, and need. As an Equal Opportunity Employer, the Town of Lyman shall employ, upgrade, and promote the best qualified candidates who fit the mission statement of the Town and who are available at the salary level established for the position, without discrimination as to race, religion, age, sex, physical or mental disability, sexual orientation (including gender identity and expression), national origin or ancestry, marital status, genetic information, protected veteran or military status, color, pregnancy, familial status, political affiliation, whistleblower activity, or any other status protected by law.

This policy applies to all terms and conditions of employment including hiring, placement, promotion, termination, layoff, recall, transfer, leave of absence, compensation, benefits, and training.

2.2: Americans With Disabilities Act

The Town is committed to complying with all applicable provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), as amended, and RSA 354 A. It is the Town's policy not to discriminate against any qualified employee or applicant with regard to any terms or conditions of employment because of such individual's disability or perceived disability so long as the employee can perform the essential functions of the job.

Consistent with this policy of nondiscrimination, the Town will provide reasonable accommodations to a qualified individual with a disability, as defined by the ADA, who has made the Town aware of his or her disability, provided that such accommodation does not constitute an undue hardship on the Town.

The Town encourages individuals with disabilities to come forward and request reasonable accommodation. Employees with a disability who believe they need reasonable accommodation to perform the essential functions of their job should notify their Supervisor/ Department Head and Town Manager (or designee) as outlined in 2.4 of this section. The Town will maintain all medical information in a confidential manner in accordance with the ADA.

2.3: Pregnancy Worker's Fairness Act

The Town does not discriminate based on pregnancy or related conditions, including lactation and the need to express breast milk for a nursing child, unless the discrimination is based on a bona fide occupational qualification. The Town also does not discriminate based on sex, which can include pregnancy, childbirth, and the need for maternity leave, unless discrimination is based on a bona fide occupational qualification.

2.4: Process for Sections 2.2 and 2.3

Employees who have mental or physical disabilities, or pregnancy related medical conditions which may impact their ability to perform the essential functions of their job, shall notify their Supervisor/Department Head and the Town Manager (or Designee) to request an accommodation. Once a request has been made, the employee, Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or Designee) will begin the following steps:

- The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee) meet to discuss potential accommodation.
- The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee)

review the essential functions of the job. It may be necessary to provide a job description or list of essential functions to the employee's medical provider to confirm the disability and the need for the accommodation.

- The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee) will review options for potential accommodation and will work together to come up with ideas that are reasonable and that do not create an undue hardship for the employer (Town).
- In the event that a reasonable accommodation is determined, it will be documented and placed in the employee's medical file.
- The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee) will continue to monitor the need for the accommodation to ensure there are not any issues or concerns by either party.
- If the employee rejects the proposed accommodation, the employee may appeal following the Town's grievance policy and procedure.

Any individual with a disability who believes he or she have been subject to discrimination based on disability may discuss the complaint with the Town Manager (or Designee). It is unlawful for the Town, its employees, contractors, or grantees to retaliate against anyone who files a grievance or cooperates in the investigation of a grievance.

2.5: Religious Accommodations

The Town of Lyman respects the religious beliefs and practices of all employees and will make, on request, accommodation for such observances when a reasonable accommodation is available that does not create undue hardship for the Town.

An employee whose religious beliefs or practices conflicts with their job, work schedule, or other aspects of employment, and who seeks a religious accommodation must submit a written request for the accommodation to their immediate Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or Designee). The written request will include the type of religious conflict that exists and the employee's recommendation of accommodation.

The Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (Or Designee) will review the request and consider whether a conflict exists due to a sincerely held religious belief or practice and whether an accommodation is available that is reasonable and that would not create an undue hardship on the Town.

The Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or Designee) will meet with the employee and discuss the merits of the accommodation and conclusion of a decision. If the employee accepts the proposed religious accommodation, the Supervisor/ Department Head and Town Manager (or Designee) will implement the decision agreed upon. If the employee rejects the

proposed accommodation, the employee may appeal following the Town's grievance policy and procedure.

2.6: Immigration Law Compliance

The Town only employs United States citizens and Non United States citizens authorized to work in the United States. In compliance with the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1968, it is against Town policy to discriminate in any aspect of employment of a person authorized to work in the United States based on the person's national origin, citizenship, or intent to become a U.S. citizen. In accordance with federal law, every prospective employee is required to provide to sign a verification attesting that he or she is legally employable in the United States. The Town retains copies of these documents submitted/signed by an employee. To the extent practical and appropriate, these documents will be kept confidential. However, on request, the Town is required to provide copies of these documents to the U.S Department of Labor and to the Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS).

Providing false documentation or making any false statement related to this verification shall be grounds for immediate discharge. And, if during the course of employment, the Town requests further information relating to an employee's authorization to work in the United Staes, the employee must furnish the information requested. Failure to cooperate in providing such information shall be grounds for discipline, up to and including termination.

SECTION 3: NON-DISCRIMINATION AND HARRASSMENT

3.1: Non-Bullying policy

The purpose of this policy is to communicate to all employees, including elected officials, that The Town will not tolerate any instance of bullying behavior. Employees found in violation of this policy will be disciplined up to and including termination.

The Town defines bullying as repeated inappropriate behavior, either verbal, physical, or otherwise, conducted by one or more persons against another or others at the place of work or in the course of employment. The Town will not tolerate bullying behavior. Employees have the right not to be bullied, harassed, or victimized and have the right to work in a safe environment free from hostility.

Examples of bullying include the following types of behavior:

<u>Physical Bullying:</u> Pushing, shoving, hitting, poking, tripping, assault or threat of physical assault; damage to a person's work area or property.

<u>Verbal Bullying:</u> Making abusive or offensive remarks; persistent name calling that is hurtful, insulting, or humiliating; making defamatory statements, slandering, ridiculing, or maligning a person or the persons family; using the person as the butt of a joke.

<u>Gesture Bullying:</u> Non-verbal threatening body language or gestures; glances that convey threatening message.

Exclusion: Socially or physically excluding or disregarding a person in work-related activities.

Additionally, the following examples may constitute or contribute to evidence of bullying in the workplace:

- Shouting or raising voice at an individual in public or in private.
- Making threats of harm or intimidation whether verbal, non-verbal, or in writing.
- Persistent singling out of an individual
- Spreading rumor and gossip regarding individuals.
- Making verbal remarks or obscene gestures.
- Public humiliation in any form.
- Constant criticism of matters unrelated or minimally related to the person's job performance or job description.
- Blocking, cornering, or crowding a person to cause intimidation.
- Personal insults and use of offensive slander.
- Ignoring or interrupting an individual in meetings
- Public reprimands
- Encouraging others to disregard a supervisor's or designee's instructions.

Bullying is **NOT**: Expressing differences of opinions; offering constructive feedback, guidance, or advice about work-related behavior; or reasonable action taken by an employer or supervisor relating to the management and direction of employees or place of employment (i.e. managing an employee's performance, taking reasonable disciplinary actions, assigning work).

3.2: Harassment and Sexual Harassment

The Town of Lyman is committed to maintaining a work environment free from all forms of harassment and intimidation. Harassment is prohibited in connection with any employee activity including, but not limited to, relations with other employees, supervisors, prospective employees, clients, vendors, elected officials, appointees, or members of the public. Reports of harassment will be promptly investigated. Employees found in violation of this policy will be disciplined up to and including termination.

The Town expects that all relationships among persons in the work environment will be professional and conduct themselves in a business-like manner. The Town strictly prohibits and does not tolerate any type of harassment, sexual, or otherwise in the form of unwelcomed or unwarranted verbal, physical, or visual conduct of its employees based on the protected characteristics of race, religion, age, sex, physical or mental disability, sexual orientation (including gender identity and expression), national origin, genetic pre-disposition, color, political affiliation, whistleblower activity, or any other status protected by law.

Definitions of Sexual Harassment

<u>Sexual Harassment:</u> Unwelcomed and inappropriate sexual remarks, gestures, visual displays, or physical advances in the workplace or other professional situation.

<u>Quid Pro Quo:</u> Harassment that occurs when submission or rejection of such conduct is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting an individual, such as promotions in exchange for sexual favors, or an unfavorable change of duties in response to rejected sexual advances.

<u>Hostile Work Environment:</u> Unwelcomed sexual conduct which creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment, or interferes with an individual's work performance. Conduct which is not sexual in nature may still create a sexually hostile work environment if it is based on the victim's gender. Such instances may include physical or verbal abuse based on gender, exclusion or isolation of the individual, or tampering with belongings.

Definitions of Harassment

Behavior which is offensive and intrusive creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, or humiliating environment towards an individual because of their race, religion, age, sex, color, gender identity or expression, sexual orientation, national origin, disability, marital status, citizenship, genetic information, or any other characteristic protected by law.

Sexual and other types of harassment may take many forms. Such forms may include, but are not limited to:

- Unwelcome sexual advances, gestures, comments, or contact.
- Offensive material including sexually explicit cartoons, pictures, drawings, videos, objects, or other communications including email, internet programs, blogs, or websites.
- Offensive or sexual jokes.
- Pinching, grabbing, sexual assault, or any physical contact of a sexual nature.
- Threats.
- Subjecting employees to ridicule, slurs, or derogatory actions.
- Basing employment decisions or practices on submission to such harassment
- Deliberate blocking of a person's path
- Non-verbal sexual behavior, such as staring or leering at a person's body.
- Use of derogatory stereotypes.
- Refusal to cooperate with employees in performing work-related tasks.

Unwelcome harassment of any kind need not occur in the workplace to be unlawful if the harassment activity creates a hostile or offensive work environment, the activity may constitute actionable harassment regardless of where it occurs.

3.3: Unlawful Discrimination

The Civil Rights Act of 1964 prevents discrimination in the workplace. Any discrimination based on a protected class is illegal with regard to race, religion, national, social, or ethnic origins, sex (including pregnancy). Age (over 40, physical, mental, or sensory disability. Sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, marital status, past or present military service, genetic information, familial status, whistleblower activity, and any other status protected by state and federal law. All such complaints will be addressed and if necessary, appropriate action will be taken.

Employees should report any discrimination immediately to their Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or Designee) and are protected from retaliation in any form. All complaints of retaliation will be investigated promptly, and remedial action will be taken.

3.4: Workplace Threats and Violence

It is vitally important to the Town to protect the safety and security of employees and the public who conduct business in municipal buildings/facilities. Any threats, threatening behavior, or acts of violence against employees, visitors, guests, or other individuals by anyone on Town property will not be tolerated. Violations of this policy will lead to disciplinary action up to and including termination, and if otherwise necessary, arrest and/or prosecution.

Any person who makes substantial threats, exhibits threatening behavior, or engages in violent acts on Town Property shall be requested to leave immediately, and if warranted removed by law enforcement. The Town will investigate reported incidents and initiate an appropriate response, which may include, but is not limited to, suspension and/or termination of employment, and/or criminal prosecution of the person or persons involved.

No existing Town policy, practice, or procedure should be interpreted to prohibit decisions designed to prevent a threat from being carried out, a violent act from occurring, or a lifethreatening situation from developing

Employees are responsible for making a report regardless of the relationship between the individual who initiated the threat or threatening behavior. Even without an actual threat any behavior an employee has witnessed that they regard is job related or may be carried out on Town-owned property or is connected to Town employment should be reported. Employees shall file a report of the incident as soon they are reasonably able to and direct reports to the Town

Manger (or Designee). Reports shall include specific details of an event to be investigated. The report shall include such information as:

- Name of the individual making the threat or engaging in violent acts
- Relationship to organization and/or recipient
- Name of other persons involved including witnesses and victims.
- A brief description of the event including antecedents leading up to the incident.
- Any specific threats or language and/or physical acts of the incident

The Town of Lyman recognizes the sensitivity of the information and will exercise all procedures in a confidential manner and respect the privacy of reporting employees and any victims involved.

3.5: Complaint Procedure

The Town of Lyman respects employees' rights to a safe and professional work environment. An employee, whether being the recipient of bullying, harassment, sexual harassment, or discrimination, is witness to, or otherwise becomes aware of such misconduct that is prohibited by this policy is encouraged to file a report.

Internal complaints may be filed by contacting the Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or Designee). It is the responsibility of the Town Manager (or Designee) to respond to complaints promptly, evaluate appropriate corrective action, and maintain confidentiality of all parties involved. Corrective action is required regardless of whether a complaint is made, or the conduct appears to be unwelcome. Even if the person providing information requests that no action be taken, the Town Manager (or Designee) must engage to actively prevent or stop inappropriate, unprofessional conduct in the workplace.

The Town will not tolerate discrimination, bullying, or harassment of any kind. Every effort will be made to resolve the complaint at the lowest level possible. If an investigation is warranted, it will be conducted promptly and with confidentiality, respecting the rights of the parties involved. All employees are required to cooperate fully in any investigation of alleged discrimination, bullying or harassment. Any report of alleged misconduct that is made in a knowingly false or frivolous manner is prohibited, will not be tolerated, and will be appropriately addressed should it occur, including possible disciplinary action.

If an employee believes they are being harassed or discriminated against, they have the right to file a complaint with the Human Rights Commission (MHRC) within six months of the unlawful act or unlawful discrimination. To file a charge or obtain more information on the procedure, contact the Commission at (207)-624-6290 or by mail at: Human Rights Commission 51 State Street Augusta, ME 04333-0051

3.6: Whistle Blower's Protection Policy and Anti-Retaliation

The Town of Lyman complies with State and Federal laws of the Whistle Blowers Protection Act (WPA) and encourages its employees to report illegal, unethical or violation of Town policies and procedures by municipal officers, or employees and protects Town employees who report improper government actions. Any employee who is aware of a violation of the law, or condition or practice that risks any person's health and/or safety, is required to immediately report the circumstances to the Town Manager (or Designee). Employees must provide information about the issue and allow a reasonable time for it to be corrected. The employee will be requested to provide a detailed report in writing. The Town Manager (or Designee) will investigate the report promptly and act in a timely manner to take any necessary remedial action. Employees who report any violations are protected from retaliation from all other employes and supervisors. Violations of this policy may result in appropriate disciplinary action up to and including termination.

SECTION 4: RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT

4.1: Recruitment Process

It is the Town Manager's (or Designee) duty to hire and appoint all employees of the Town pursuant to Section 4.3 of the Municipal Charter. The Town Manger's office coordinates and oversees the recruitment, interview, and selection process. Within the limits of time in which a position is filled, there shall be as wide a search for qualified candidates as is practicable. The character of this search will vary from position to position but shall consist of an internal posting in Town departments, and may include external advertising, open competitive examination, contact with State and other employment offices, contact with special sources of information, or any combination. It shall be the duty of the Town Manager (or Designee) to seek out the most qualified employees for the Town based on relative knowledge, skills, abilities, overall performance and ability to aptly suit the Town's Mission Statement. It is the Town Manager's (or Designee) duty to keep the Board apprised of all vacancies and the status of filling those vacancies.

Municipal Officials may select deputies as authorized by State law, however, appointment of deputies must be approved by the Town Manager (Section 4.3 (c) of the Municipal Charter).

The recruitment process of the Town Manager is the responsibility of the Select Board as outlined in Article 4.1 of the Municipal Charter.

<u>Employment Applications:</u> All candidates are required to complete a Town of Lyman employment application regardless of whether supporting documentation is provided. Applications for employment shall be submitted on forms provided by the Town. Applications are only accepted for positions in which a posted vacancy exists.

Conditional Offer of Employment: The Town Manager's office (or Designee) coordinates all conditional offers of employment. Conditional offers of employment are approved by the Town Manager (or Designee) and provided to the candidate in writing. The conditional offer of employment outlines the specific and applicable requirements, based on the nature of the job, which must be met in order for the person to be hired. Examples of conditions of hire may include the applicant's ability to pass a criminal records check or any other lawful preemployment screenings. The cost of any conditions of employment is the responsibility of the Town.

Offer of Employment: Upon satisfactory completion of all conditions of employment, a written offer of employment is extended. After the offer of employment is signed and returned, the Town Manager (or Designee) will coordinate the on-boarding process with the appropriate Supervisor/Department Head.

The Town is committed to providing an equitable and competitive compensation package that will attract and retain well-qualified employees.

4.2: Nepotism and Workplace Romance

The Town of Lyman wants to ensure that employment practices do not create conflicts of interest or favoritism based on employment of relatives. This extends to practices that involve employee hiring, promotion, advancement, and transfer.

The employment of relatives in an organization may present a perceived or actual conflict of interest such as favoritism, personal conflicts, and potential conflicts from outside the work environment that are carried into the workplace.

For the purpose of this policy, a relative is defined as someone with whom there has been or is a significant personal relations, including, but not limited to, a spouse, domestic partner, cohabiter (romantic partner/significant other), parent, child, sibling, sibling in-law, parent in-law, grandparent, aunt, uncle, niece, or nephew who is related by blood, marriage, adoption or some other relationship, as further defined below:

<u>Blood Relative</u>: Someone who is related to you by birth rather than marriage or another relationship.

Spouse: A legally married person

<u>Domestic Partnership:</u> Legal declaration per public law 2003, c.672. Two unmarried adults who are domiciled together under long-term arrangements that evidence a commitment to remain responsible indefinitely for each other's welfare.

<u>Cohabiter:</u> To live together as if married, usually without legal sanction.

This policy applies to all current employees and candidates for employment.

To that end.

- Relatives of those currently employed by the Town may be hired only if they will not be working directly for or supervising a relative. Under circumstances where there may be a conflict with this provision the Town Manager (or Designee) shall review such special circumstances and may waive such provision on a temporary basis.
- Current employees may not be promoted, advanced, or transferred into a position where they will be working directly for or supervising a relative.
- For the purpose of this section, a direct Supervisor/Department Head is defined as overseeing the daily performance of the employee and has the authority to recommend or exercise discipline, promotion, and rewards.

Workplace Romance

To avoid actual or potential conflicts, sexual harassment, and other adverse impacts on the work environment that may result from romantic and/or physical relationships within the workplace, the Town prohibits Supervisor/Department Head employees from becoming romantically or physically involved with employees directly under their supervision. In the event a Supervisor/Department Head develops a personal relationship with a subordinate in the course of employment with the Town, those employees shall immediately report to the Town Manager (or designee) who will take further action as necessary and appropriate under the circumstances. Supervisor/Department Head employees who violate this policy may be subject to disciplinary action. In the event that coworkers, neither of whom are in a supervisory role with one another, develop a personal relationship in the course of employment with the Town, the employees shall immediately report to the Town Manager (or designee).

4.3: Employee Classification

The Fair Labor Standards Act requires the classification of all employees according to the overtime provisions of the law. For purposes of paying any compensation, all employees are either "Exempt" or "Non-Exempt" from overtime compensation. All determinations of wage classification status are made through the job evaluation process. The Town Manager (or designee) is responsible for classifying all employees.

<u>Exempt Employees:</u> Are generally executives, managers, professionals, Department Heads, administrative or outside of sales staff who are exempt from minimum wage and overtime provisions of the FLSA. Exempt employees hold jobs that meet the standards and criteria established under the FLSA by the US Department of Labor.

<u>Non-Exempt Employees:</u> Are employees whose work is covered by the FLSA. They are *not* exempt from the law's requirement concerning minimum wage and overtime.

<u>Employee Classification</u>: It is the intent of the town to clarify the definitions of employment classifications so that employees understand their employment status and benefits eligibility. These classifications do not guarantee employment for any specified period of time.

Employees of the following classifications are subject to all personnel policy rules and regulations, except where specifically excluded.

- A. REGULAR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEE: A regular full-time position is year-round in nature with no predetermined end date and scheduled to work no less than 32 hours per week on a continuing and indefinite basis. The employee is eligible to receive all employee benefits and rights as provided by this personnel policy.
- B. REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEE: Regular part-time position is year-round in nature with no predetermined end date and scheduled to work at least 20 hours per week but less than 32 hours per week on a continuing and indefinite basis. An employee in this category may work more than 30 hours per week sporadically for a short duration under certain circumstances but may not work more than 130 hours in a 4-week period. Regular part-time employees who work 20 or more hours per week on a continual and indefinite basis are eligible to receive Earned Paid Leave (EPL), the Town's 457 (b) Retirement Plan per section 8.4, and paid holidays but only if the holiday falls on a day that the employee is regularly scheduled to work.
- C. VARIABLE HOUR PART-TIME EMPLOYEE: An employee in this category does not work a consistent schedule from week to week but is generally actively employed on a year-round basis. The employee usually works under 20 hours per week but may work over 20 hours per week sporadically and on occasion due to the nature of the work. Variable hour part-time employees are not eligible for Town benefits except those mandated by State or Federal law, nor do they accrue Paid Time Off (PTO), or received holiday pay. An example of variable hour part-time employees are: Planning Board members, Zoning Board of Appeals.
- D. TEMPORARY SEASONAL EMPLOYEE: An employee in this category works a standard work week or less on a regular basis but for a limited period of time, usually not to exceed six months. Temporary employees are paid for hours worked and

- receive no other benefits except those mandated by State or Federal law. Examples of temporary seasonal employees are: Summer laborers and Summer Camp Counselors.
- E. PER DIEM EMPLOYEE: An employee in this category works a variable and flexible schedule. Work hours vary from week to week depending on the department's needs and the availability of the employee. An employee of this type is not eligible for Town benefits except those mandated by State or Federal law. Examples of per diem employees are: Election/Ballot Clerks.

Volunteers and Elected Officials

All volunteers and elected officials are expected to adhere to the Municipal Code of Ethics and the Town's Acceptable Use policy. While some appointees to boards, committees, and commissions may fall under an employee classification of this policy, all Board, Committee, and Commission members are expected to follow guidelines, procedures, and policies described in the Town's Boards and Committee Handbook in addition to all Town policies and procedures.

- A. APPOINTEES TO BOARDS, COMMITTEES, AND COMMISSIONS: People appointed to serve in positions on Boards, Committees, or Commissions where there is no compensation are not employees but volunteers providing service to the Lyman community. Recruitment of appointees to boards, committees, and commissions, whether classified as an employee or as a volunteer, is as outlined in the Recruitment and Appointment of Volunteers Policy and in accordance with Municipal Charter Section 5.1.2.
- B. TOWN SELECT BOARD: Members of the Town Select Board are officers of the municipal corporation and are not considered employees. Members of the Select Board are eligible for compensation as established by the Municipal Charter (Section 3.2).
- C. ELECTED OFFICIALS: All other Elected Official are not considered employees and are exempt from the personnel policy handbook and any benefits allotted herein. However, any elected official is strongly encouraged to adhere to anti-discrimination, harassment, non-bullying, workplace violence and other policies related to Town-owned assets, workplace conduct, and treatment of employees. The Town may take any necessary action against an elected official who violates any Town policy.

4.4: Job Descriptions

The Town Manager (or Designee) maintains job descriptions for all positions. Job descriptions are utilized in all postings and advertisements for job openings.

Job descriptions will contain the following information:

- Position details Title, department, exempt or non-exempt status, classification.
- Supervision received and exercised.
- Essential duties and responsibilities.
- Peripheral or Special duties (if applicable)
- Education and experience qualifications
- Knowledge, skills, and abilities qualifications.
- Physical requirements and work environment.

The Town Manager (Or Designee) will review job descriptions on a periodic at least on an annual basis during the performance evaluation process and determine modifications. For employee positions that are under the supervision of a Supervisor/Department Head, the Town Manager (or Designee) may solicit recommendations from the Supervisor/Department Head. The Town Manager (or Designee) has final approval of all changes and revisions to job descriptions. The Select Board has final approval on all changes and revisions to the Town Manger's job description.

4.5: New Employee Onboarding

The Town Manager's office (or Designee) will oversee and coordinate with the employee to provide onboarding materials such as:

- Review of Employee Personnel Policies and Procedures, including all other policies outside of this policy handbook that are herein referenced under relevant sections.
- Review of employee's job description
- Review of Municipal Code of Ethics
- Review of the Town's Acceptable Use Policy
- Review of employee benefits and applications, tax withholding and I-9 forms
- Review of building access, security codes, and keys.
- Review of training programs available and applicable to the employee's position.
- Review of probationary period

4.6: Probation

All Regular Full-Time and Part-Time employees are considered probationary employees for the first six (6) months of employment unless otherwise provided for by law. During the probationary period, the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) shall conduct an evaluation at or before the completion of six months of employment. The purpose of the probationary period is for the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) to observe an employee's work habits, skills, attitudes, competency, and other pertinent characteristics for successful job performance. Any Regular Full-Time or Part-Time employee who receives a promotion or transfer may be required to serve another probationary period. The probationary period shall be considered an extension of the selection process.

During the probationary period, the Supervisor/Department Head may recommend to the Town Manager (or Designee) that an employee be removed if unable or unwilling to perform the duties of the position satisfactorily or whose work habits and dependability did not merit the continuance of services. Such removal will not be subject to review or appeal.

At the time of hiring, transfer, or promotion, the employee shall be advised of the probationary period.

<u>Performance Appraisal Process for Probationary Employees</u> During the probationary period, employees <u>may shall</u> receive written evaluation(s) at two months, four months, and six months of their employment (or any combination thereof as necessary). The Town Manager (or Designee) will review the evaluations. If applicable the Supervisor/Department Head will give a recommendation to the Town Manager (or Designee) regarding continuance of employment. The Town Manager (or Designee) shall conduct reviews of Department Head employees.

4.7: Promotion

Town employees shall be given the opportunity for advancement. Employees shall be given first consideration in filling a vacancy when qualified employees express an interest in the vacancy. Upon approval by the Town Manager (or Designee), an existing employee may fill a vacant position without posting the position for external advertising. Employees may not be promoted to a new position without loss of seniority, pay, or job grade to a vacant position. The Town Manager (or Designee) may authorize reclassifications and/or job title changes when appropriate outside of the normal selection process.

Current employees may be given training opportunities to qualify for promotions. However, based on qualifications, experience, and abilities required for the position, the vacancy may be filled by an outside applicant. Such a decision shall be made only after careful review of the qualifications of all Town employees who apply for the position.

4.8: Performance Evaluations

The Supervisor/Department Head shall be responsible for the implementation of employee performance evaluations. The Town Manager (or Designee) shall evaluate the performance of Supervisor/Department Heads.

The annual evaluation period is January 1 through December 31. Regular full-time and part-time employees are evaluated on an annual basis. The performance evaluation shall include a goal setting process for the upcoming calendar year. Employee evaluations must be signed by the employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or designee). An employee may

attach a written statement within ten (10) calendar days after any evaluation given to be included in their personnel file.

Supervisors/Department Heads and the Town Manager (or Designee) should provide frequent and periodic feedback to the employee on job performance. To assist employees in improving their job performance, various tools such as training and implementing performance improvement plans may be utilized.

Written performance evaluations shall be completed at least annually around the same time through the months of December to January for Full-Time and Part-Time employees. Employee evaluations must be signed by the employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or designee). An employee may attach a written statement within ten (10) calendar days after any evaluation given to be included in their personnel file.

All job-related employee performance evaluations are strictly confidential and shall only be between the Supervisor/Department Head, Town Manager (or Designee) and the employee. Unless in the event that disciplinary action and/or complaints are at the level of the Select Board and/or Fair Hearing Board, only then, will the Select Board and/or Fair Hearing Board have access to the employee's performance evaluations. Only individuals who have a job-related interest in reviewing an employee's performance evaluation shall have access to the document. (i.e. Supervisor/Department Head, Town Manger (or Designee)).

4.9: Training

Both the Town and its employees benefit from training opportunities reasonably related to the employee's current position. The outcome of training opportunities is to improve the quality of an employee's job performance, which in turn results in more efficient and effective operations. It shall be the responsibility of the Town Manager (or Designee) to provide Town employees with reasonable opportunities for in-service training and attendance at conferences.

Prior approval by the Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or Designee) is required for the course/conference fee and any accommodation reasonably necessary. The approval is subject to available and approved funds in the budget, the relationship of the employee's position and training must be in the best interest of the Town. The Town Manger (or Designee) and Supervisor/Department Head shall authorize employee attendance at out-of-state conferences based on available funds and conditions determined by the Town Manager (or Designee).

4.10: Compensation

<u>PAY DATES:</u> Employees are paid bi-weekly, with the pay week from Thursday through Wednesday. Deductions are taken out each pay period, with insurance premiums deducted based on a two-pay month. Also see section 8.1 for more information on deductions.

<u>PAY RANGES:</u> The Town Manager (or Designee) will prepare pay ranges for all employees in accordance with the approved budget. Each pay range will reflect knowledge, skills, abilities, and responsibilities and shall be related to compensation for comparable positions in other public and private employment. Individual rate changes or re-assignments must be approved by the Town Manager (or Designee) and signed by the employee. The Town Manager will advise the Board as needed and submit an updated list of pay rates/ranges to the Board as part of the annual budget process.

<u>OVERTIME</u>: Any time actually worked in excess of forty (40) hours in one work week shall be compensated by overtime pay at a rate of time and one-half, with the exception of Exempt Employee's.

ANNUAL ADJUSTMENT: Any salary or wage adjustment based on the Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) will commence on July 1 of each respective year in accordance with the approved municipal budget. The Town Manager (or Designee) may recommend a COLA adjustment to the Board, subject to voter approval, taking into consideration the Town's staffing patterns, the relevant labor market, the rate of inflation, and adjustments to compensation packages. Due to budget constraints, economic downturns, or other circumstances and events, the Town Manager (or Designee) may choose not to recommend a COLA adjustment, nor guarantee that levels will remain the same. COLA is not a guaranteed rate and may be changed from the Town Manager's (or Designee) recommendation through the Budget process.

<u>PERFORMANCE BASED MERIT PROGRAM:</u> The Town Manger (or Designee) may each year at his or her discretion establish a performance-based merit program in order to recognize the positive performance of employees. The program will be dependent on available funding. Merit raises will be awarded as determined in writing by the Town Manager (or Designee). Merit raises will be based on an employee's annual performance evaluation. Annual performance evaluations shall begin December of each year, during the budget process.

4.11: Personnel File

The Town Manager's office (or Designee) is responsible for maintaining a centralized personnel file for all employees. Supervisors/Department Heads are required to provide the Town Manger's office (or Designee) personnel paperwork provided by an employee. Access to an employee's personnel file is limited to the employee, the Town Manager (or Designee), Legal Counsel, and other persons personnel determined to have a legitimate need to know.

Employees may review their personnel file by forwarding a written request to the Town Manger's office (or Designee). Personnel files may not be removed from Town Property and are reviewed by the employee in the presence of the Town Manager (or designee). Upon written request, employees shall receive one copy of their personnel file at the cost to the Town per annum (M.R.S.A 26:7 ss 631). If the employee wishes for an additional copy during the calendar year, it will be at the expense of the employee.

The Town Manger's office (or Designee) maintains all personnel files for terminated employees as specified by State and Federal retention laws. Any request for information made under the Maine Freedom of Access Act shall be forwarded to the Town Manager (or Designee).

4.12: Resignation

Employees who are considering resignation from their position with the Town are encouraged to discuss the situation with the Town Manager (or Designee). An employee who chooses to resign is required should submit their resignation to the Town Manager (or Designee) in writing and provide at least ten (10) working days' notice. The Town Manager (or Designee) will meet with the employee to conduct an exit interview and discuss such matters as the final paycheck and benefits status.

Under certain circumstances and situations, the Town Manager (or Designee) has the authority to accept verbal resignations. Pay at separation procedure is as outlined in section 7.5 of this Personnel Policy Handbook

4.13: Layoffs

An employee may be laid off whenever is necessary because of a shortage of funds, lack of work, or other related reasons, which do not reflect discredit upon the employee. Layoff decisions shall be based on the needed skill set in each job classification. Seniority within the department may be considered as appropriate.

If the layoff is temporary in nature with the intention to re-employ an employee as soon as possible, coverage in Town sponsored benefits such as health, dental, and vision may continue for 90 days. However, retirement contributions cease until such a time when the employee returns to regular full-time employment.

SECTION 5: DISCIPLINE AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

5.1: Discipline

The Town shall base disciplinary actions or measures on a "just cause" basis. Under normal circumstances, the Town endorses a policy of progressive discipline to provide employees with notice of deficiencies and an opportunity to improve. All discipline, including verbal warning, must be documented appropriately and specify reason(s) and actions necessary for improvement. Supervisors/Department Heads and the Town Manager (or Designee) should inform the employee promptly and specifically of such lapses of employee conduct. The Town expects employees to comply with its standards of conduct and performance and to correct any noncompliance with these standards.

Types of Action Outlined below are the Town's progressive discipline procedures. The Town reserves the right to combine or skip steps depending on the facts of each situation and the nature of the offense.

- 1. Verbal warning
- 2. Written warning
- 3. Suspension
- 4. Termination

<u>Verbal and Written Warnings:</u> Identify each issue of discipline, as well as the appropriate corrective measures to be taken by the employee (including their time frame for completion) in order for the Town to consider each issue as resolved. Supervisors/Department Heads are responsible for communicating warnings after consultation with the Town Manager (or Designee).

<u>Suspension of Employment:</u> Is a period of paid or unpaid leave during which the employee is relieved of duty and will not be permitted at the job site or act in the capacity of their duties. This action is taken when performance, conduct, or safety incidents necessitate a review. When immediate action is necessary to ensure the safety of the employee or others, the Supervisor/Department Head shall immediately report to the Town Manager (or Designee). All suspensions are subject to approval from the Town Manager (or Designee).

<u>Termination of employment</u>: May be necessary in cases where corrective actions have failed to improve performance, obtain compliance with Town policies, and/or correct inappropriate conduct. Under no circumstances shall an employee be terminated without Town Manager (or Designee) approval. If immediate removal from the work site is necessary, the employee shall be suspended pending review.

This policy does not provide contractual rights regarding employee discipline or counseling, nor should anything in this policy be read or construed as modifying or altering the employment-at-will relationship between the Town and its employees. Any time the Town determines it is necessary, such as in the case of a major breach of policy or violation of law, the Town reserves the right to immediately proceed to appropriate action, up to and including termination.

Paid Administrative Leave

When the situation warrants, the Town may consider paid administrative leave, which is a non-disciplinary action that allows the Town to remove the employee from the workplace for reasons other than disciplinary issues, such as when an investigation is conducted or when there is a safety concern in the workplace. Notice of paid administrative leave shall provide the cause, time frame, and conditions for reinstatement. As previously stated, paid administrative leave is not considered to be in and of itself discipline.

Documentation

If a disciplinary action is taken, a copy of the decision regarding the action shall be filed in the employee's personnel file and a copy given to the employee. The employee will be asked to sign copies of this documentation attesting to his or her receipt and understanding of the corrective action outlined in these documents. The employee has the right to respond in writing and to have this response placed in the employee's personnel file but must do so within ten (10) calendar days of the date of the corrective action. Any disciplinary action that is removed must also have the employee's response removed at the same time. The employee may request that disciplinary action be removed from the personnel file:

- A. When all corrective action has been taken and a re-review of the disciplinary decision has shown significant improvement.
- B. The employee may request a re-review of the disciplinary decision after a period of five (5) years.
- C. Unless the disciplinary decision is termination, then the record(s) shall remain on file per State and Federal retentions laws.

5.2: Grievance Procedure

Grievances are disputes, claims, or complaints of issues relating to the employer-employee relationship. The procedures outlined below allow Town employees to receive a fair and unbiased review of workplace concerns. As outlined below, every effort must be made to reconciliate disputes at the lowest level possible before any complaint or grievance is brought to a higher level. The Town Manager's office (or Designee) maintains records of grievances confidentially and securely. In the event of employee termination, after such termination has been made final by the Select Board, no grievance procedure under this policy shall apply.

A. <u>Informal Discussion:</u> The employees' concerns should first be discussed with the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee). Many concerns can be resolved informally when an employee and Supervisor/Department Head meet to review

and discuss options to address the issue.

B. Written Complaint:

I. If a grievance is not resolved after an informal discussion with the employee's Supervisor/Department Head, the employee may submit a written complaint within five (5) work days of the incident to the Town Manager (or Designee) to include:

- A concise explanation of the grievance and details of all previous efforts to resolve the issue.
- Detailed information including evidence of the issue, related policies, etc.
- The remedy or outcome desired.

The Town Manager (or Designee) will have five (5) work days to respond to the employee in writing as to either the outcome or the next course of action.

- II. If the grievance arises from an alleged act or omission on the part of the Town Manager, the employee may submit a written complaint within five (5) work days to the Finance and Human Resources Officer, who will promptly notify the HR Liaison(s) of the Select Board. The written complaint shall to include:
 - A concise explanation of the grievance and details of all previous efforts to resolve the issue.
 - Detailed information including evidence of the issue, related policies, etc.
 - A copy of the Town Manager's written response.
 - Detailed information regarding the employee's dissatisfaction with the Town Manager's response

The HR Liaison(s) will evaluate the grievance and conduct a period of discovery to review any and all related details pertaining to the grievance and provide a written response within ten (10) work days of receipt of the appeal as to either the outcome or the next course of action.

C. Written Complaint to Select Board: In the event the employee is unsatisfied with the dispute resolution of the HR Liaison(s) the employee may file a written request, within fifteen (15) work days of receipt of appeal, to the Town Manager (or Designee) for a hearing with the Select Board. The Town Manager (or Designee) will promptly inform the Select Board. Upon receipt of the grievance, The Select Board will hold a hearing in executive session (unless otherwise agreed to, in writing, by all involved parties to waive

their executive session rights) at their next regularly scheduled meeting that is no less than fifteen (15) work days and no more than twenty (20) work days to review the grievance and issue a decision. The decision of the Select Board shall be final. The

written request must include details of the grievance as outlined below:

• A clear and concise statement of the facts giving rise to the grievance, including date, time and place of the alleged incident, if any, relating to the grievance, and characterizing each particular act or omission.

- A copy of any documents relating to the grievance (if any).
- A statement setting forth the remedy sought.
- D. <u>Fair Hearing Board:</u> Before any complaint, grievance or concern is brought before the Fair Hearing Board, all other avenues, internal to Town Government, for addressing such matters must have been exhausted. The Fair Hearing Board shall moderate any presuspension or termination hearings of Town employees in accordance with Municipal Charter Section 5.2.1 (c) and to determine if due process was or was not applied to the grievances brought to the Fair Hearing Board, section 5.2.3.

The employee may submit a written appeal to the <u>Finance and Human Resources Officer</u>, <u>Town Manager (or Designee)</u> who will promptly inform the Fair Hearing Board and shall act as liaison to the Fair Hearing Board to provide necessary documents pertaining to the grievance. The Fair Hearing Board will uphold confidentiality for all parties involved and conduct an unbiased review of the case in accordance with Municipal Charter section 5.2.3. The Fair Hearing Board will render a decision, within 15 work days of receipt of the written appeal, if due process was or was not applied in the disciplinary action process along with any necessary remedial actions to be taken (section 5.2.3 (1)(2) Municipal Charter).

SECTION 6: WORKPLACE GUIDELINES

6.1 Employee Conduct and Public Relations

In order for the Town, Officials, and Employees to maintain a positive relationship with the public they serve, we must abide by policies and procedures that will protect the public and fortify public trust and the trust we place in ourselves and our co-workers. All Town employees must avoid any conduct that might result in or create the impression of using public employment for private gain, giving preferential treatment to any person, or losing complete impartiality in conducting Town business. Employees must always act in the best interest of the Town.

Town employees shall cooperate with the public and uphold standards of efficiency, professionalism, and economy in their work. All departments shall promote teamwork and collaborate efforts in response to public inquiries, ensuring our taxpayers are entitled to the best services we can provide them. Conduct that interferes with the Town's operations, brings discredit on the Town, or is offensive to residents or fellow employees will not be tolerated.

Cooperation, responsiveness, and courtesy are fundamental elements of good service. In efforts to provide meaningful services to Town residents, employees are expected to:

- Give full and productive work to the best of their abilities and skills.
- Demonstrate a constructive, friendly, and positive attitude towards residents, co-workers, visitors, or any other affiliates with the Town.
- Be prompt and timely in responses to public inquiries.
- Respect and follow the policies, guidelines, and procedures of the Town.
- Comply with all Federal, State, and local laws and regulations.

While it's not possible to outline every potential violation, below is a non-exclusive list of types of conduct, which may give rise to discipline for any reason, even if not set forth in the following standards. Examples listed below are illustrative of prohibitive behavior and are not intended to be all-inclusive. Please direct questions about this section to the Town Manger (or designee).

- Being at work while under influence of illegal drugs or alcohol. <u>Also refer to Section</u>
 6.16 for the <u>Drug and Alcohol Policy</u>.
- Possession, distribution, sale, transfer, or use of illegal drugs or alcohol in the workplace while on duty or while operating Town owned vehicles and equipment.
- Operating equipment or performing duties in an unsafe manner.
- Fighting or provoking a fight on Town property.
- Theft of any Town property, materials, equipment, supplies, or other items under ownership of or deemed an asset of the Town.
- Indecent or immoral personal conduct, including the use of profanity or abusive language, displaying offensive pictures, screen savers, etc.
- Threatening, coercing, intimidating, or interfering in any way with the work or safety of other employees or residents
- Displaying or holding pornography either by printed or electronic media
- Falsification of timekeeping records
- Excessive absenteeism or any absence without notice. See section 6.3
- Failure to give complete and accurate information on any forms of other Town documents where data is required or requested of the employee
- Making false or malicious statements about the Town, or any of its employees or residents
- Engaging in gambling or other illegal activities on Town property at any time
- Disclosing confidential information about Town employees or residents
- Criminal activity
- Insubordination

6.2: Professional Appearance

Employees are representatives of the Town and expected to have professional conduct and project a positive image. Professional attire is expected of all employees consistent with the work location and nature of work. Employees are asked to use good judgement and present themselves at all times in a manner that best represents the Town. Departments may elect to establish different standards based on job roles, safety, or OSHA requirements.

When determining whether or not attire is appropriate, employees should consider:

- What types of job duties are required in the performance of their roles.
- General location where performance of job duties is carried out.
- With whom an employee is interacting with when transacting Town business.
- Personal safety consideration.

Additionally, employees are expected to come to work in clothing that is neat, clean, in good repair and is free from slogans or symbols that may be offensive to co-workers, the general public and others with whom they do business. Employees must also exercise discretion with regard to safety when specific job functions present different standards in the work environment.

6.3: Attendance and Punctuality

In order to provide effective services to Lyman citizens, it's important for employees to be regular and punctual in attendance. Employees are expected to report to their designated work location based on their regular work schedule. In the event an employee cannot report to work as scheduled, the employee shall notify their immediate supervisor within thirty (30) minutes of the time that employee was scheduled to work. Exempt Employees should maintain consistent and regular scheduled hours but are also required to work outside their normal schedule. For discretionary time off for exempt employees, refer to section 7.3.

Tardiness, unexpected absences, or failure to report as required may result in disciplinary action. If an employee is absent for more than three (3) days due to illness or injury, they may be required to provide a medical statement from their doctor indicating the reason for the absence. Employees may also be required to produce a statement from their doctor assuring they are fit for duty to return from an absence. A physician's statement or fitness for duty certificate may be required where absence is continuous for a period of several working days and after surgery or accident, regardless of the length of absence. Failing to report an absence properly or excessive absences or lateness, even when reported may be grounds for disciplinary action up to and including termination.

6.4: Confidentiality

During the course of their duties, employees of the Town are often privy to information about individuals, which is sensitive and will be kept confidential. Examples include, but are not limited to, labor relations, General Assistance, and personnel actions. Employees are expected to respect the confidential nature of such information. Violations may be grounds for disciplinary action up to and including termination.

6.5: Outside Employment

Town employees may engage in outside employment; however, no employee may engage in outside employment which in any manner interferes with the performance of the duties of their position, or results in a conflict of interest. Employees must inform their Department Head/Supervisor and Town Manager of their outside employment.

6.6: Political Activities

Except as otherwise provided by law, no person who is an employee of the Town shall be eligible to hold any elective office in the Town Government.

While in the employment of the Town, an employee shall not:

- Engage in political activity while on duty;
- Use the influence of his or her employment capacity for or against any candidate for any County, State, Federal, or Town elective office (i.e: Select Board, Budget Committee, or School Board);
- Use Town facilities, equipment, materials, or supplies to communicate, organize, assist, or advocate for or against any candidate for any County, State, Federal, or Town elective office, or for or against a political cause, regardless of whether he or she is on or off duty.

For the purposes of this section, political activity means to advocate expressly for or against any candidate for any County, State, Federal, or Town elective office; to circulate nomination papers, petitions, or campaign literature for any County, State, Federal, or Town elective office; to advocate expressly for or against a political cause; and/or to knowingly give, solicit, accept, or receive a political contribution for any candidate for any County, State, Federal, or Town elective office or for a political cause.

This provision is not to be construed to prevent Town employees from carrying out the duties and responsibilities of an employee's position; from becoming, or continuing to be, members of any political organization; from attending political organization meetings from donating personal

time, service, or resources to a political cause or candidate for any office; from expressing their views on political matters; or from voting with complete freedom in any election.

6.7: Conflict of Interest

Town employees are expected to treat everyone they serve with complete impartiality and are prohibited from using their official position for personal gain. Employees will not have any material financial interests in any private or professional activity that will be in conflict with their job responsibilities and will not represent private interests that are in conflict with the Town's interest.

Employees shall treat all citizens and others doing business with the Town with courtesy and respect and will not grant any citizens any favor, benefit, or special privileges beyond what is provided to all citizens. Employees will place public interests above individual, group and special interests.

Employees shall keep confidential any information not available to citizens that becomes known to them by virtue of their position with the Town. Matters of personnel, including recruitment, selection, or promotion shall be handled on the basis of qualification, ability, and merit.

Employees must disclose to the Town Manager (or Designee) the nature and extent of any financial or personal interest in any Town contract, agreement, purchase of goods or services, or projects. The Town Manager (or Designee) will review such disclosures of conflicts of interest and determine appropriate practices to maintain partiality.

6.8: Solicitation

The Town of Lyman prohibits solicitation, distribution, and posting of materials on or at Town property by Town employees, except as may be permitted by this policy. The sole exception to this policy is charitable and community activities sponsored by the Town and Town-sponsored programs related to the Town's services.

Employees may not solicit other employees during work times, except in connection with Town approved or Town-sponsored events. Employees may not distribute literature of any kind during work times, or in any work areas, except in announcements in connection with Town-sponsored events. The posting of materials or electronic announcements are permitted with approval from the Town Manager (or Designee).

6.9: Town Equipment and Materials

All Town-owned equipment, vehicles, tools, materials and supplies are the property of the Town of Lyman. The following shall govern the personal use by employees of Town-owned equipment (including computers, laptops, and cell phones) or supplies.

- I. Town equipment (including computers, laptops, and cell phones) or supplies will not be used by an employee in the conduct of private business activities, for compensation, or profit.
- II. Town equipment that is issued to an employee for purposes related to their job functions (i.e. laptop, cell phone, devices designated for out of office use) will not be used for an employee's personal use or the personal use of another.
- III. Town equipment, that is otherwise not issued for out of office use, will not be removed from Town premises for an employee's personal use or the personal use of another.
- IV. Employees are expected to follow the Town's Acceptable Use Policy.
- V. The Town's letterhead will not be used for personal correspondence or in personal business correspondence.
- VI. With approval of the Town Manager (or designee), an employee may use Town equipment such as computers, photocopy machines, or faxes occasionally for personal tasks, so long as these tasks are performed on the employees own time and cost of supplies will be reimbursed to the Town for any supplies consumed in their personal use of Town equipment. Employees are responsible for any damage to Town equipment occurring during personal use thereof.

Additionally, employees may have access to heavy equipment, such as vehicles, loaders, tractors, or other types of machinery to perform essential functions of their job. Employees are expected to adhere to all workplace safety policies and procedures. Supervisors/Department Heads may employ stricter practices and determine who may operate Town-owned heavy equipment within their department.

Smoking and smokeless tobacco are not permitted in any Town-owned vehicles or heavy equipment.

All employees must use seat belts while in Town-owned vehicles or heavy equipment, either as an operator or a passenger. This policy also applies when an employee is using his or her own personal vehicle for Town business.

Any employee that is operating Town-owned vehicles or heavy equipment will not use any cellular device or any other type of electronic device that impairs or distracts the employee from the safe operation of vehicle equipment.

Employees in violation of any section of this policy may receive disciplinary action up to and including termination.

6.10: Cell Phone Use

The Town allows employees to bring personal cell phones to work, however, use of personal cell phones is expected to be kept at a minimum for calls and text messages. Urgent calls to/from family members or for emergency matters can be made/received and should be kept brief. While occasional phone calls are acceptable, frequent or lengthy personal calls and texts can be disruptive and non-productive and not in the best interest of the Town. For this reason, it is expected that employees make or receive personal phone calls and text messages during non-work time as much as practicable.

When sending text messages for Town business-related matters, employees are expected to use discretion and good judgement. As with email and other documents related to Town business, text messages made on Town-owned and personal cellular phones are subject to Maine's Freedom of Access Act (FOAA). Sending text messages of a confidential or inappropriate nature should be avoided.

Employees who willfully violate this policy are subject to progressive disciplinary action for disruptive, excessive use, or continuous non-compliance., to include having cellular phone privileges revoked during work hours.

6.11: Workplace Safety

The Town of Lyman strives to provide a safe work environment for all employees and the general public conducting business in Town facilities. All employees have a responsibility in keeping the workplace safe, healthy, and productive, and to provide safe and efficient services to the public. Supervisors/Department Heads are responsible for ensuring worksites and office areas are free from recognized job hazards and performance of job duties is done in a safe manner.

The Town's goal is to minimize hazards such as human injury, property loss, or fire. All employees must report all accidents or injuries immediately to their supervisor and/or Town Manager (or Designee). Employees shall exercise caution when operating machinery. Horseplay, practical jokes, or shortcuts that jeopardize the safety of others will not be tolerated and will result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.

Employees should report unsafe working conditions to their Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or Designee).

Despite employees' best efforts in maintaining a safe work environment, workplace injuries may occur. In the event of a workplace injury, employees are required to follow procedures as outlined in section 8.6 of this Personnel Policy Handbook.

6.12: Social Media Policy

All employees are expected to follow the Social Media Policy which has been established as a separate policy titled "Communications and Social Media Policy" as well as relevant social media sections of the "Acceptable Use Policy"

6.13: Technology – Acceptable Use Policy

Technology resources, computer information systems, and networks are an integral part of the business of the Town. The Town provides technology resources to employees to support them in accomplishing their work-related tasks. Employees are expected to review the Town's Acceptable Use Policy upon employment and annually.

6:14: Purchasing Procedures, See Policy

All employees are expected to follow policy and procedures as outlined in the "Town of Lyman Purchasing Procedures" which has been established as a separate policy.

6.15: Inclement Weather and Emergency Closings

Certain emergencies may require closure of municipal facilities in order to provide appropriate emergency response and/or maintain the safety of employees and the public. Those emergencies may include, but are not limited to, major medical crisis, public health or safety threats, fires, serious workplace injuries, vehicular and pedestrian accidents. The Town Manager (or Designee) shall have discretion to close the municipal facility for such emergencies. Employees will be paid for the remainder of their scheduled shift from the time of the official closing. In the event the emergency occurs before the Town office opens, employees will be notified of the closure as soon as is reasonable. While the Town will always make every effort to keep municipal facilities open to continue public services, if an employee feels their safety is at risk by remaining at work, the employee may use available accrued time off to remain at/return home.

During periods of inclement weather, the Town Manager (or Designee) may decide to close the Town Office. Employees will be paid for the remainder of their scheduled shift from the time of the official closing. In the event the Town office remains open during inclement weather an employee may use available accrued paid time off if they are unable to arrive at work.

6.16: Drug and Alcohol Policy

The Town of Lyman strongly believes in a safe environment free from substance misuse for all employees and members of the public conducting business with the Town. Employees are expected to report for work and perform their duties in a manner that does not jeopardize the health, safety, and well-being of co-workers and the public.

No employee of the Town shall possess, dispense, distribute, store, use, or be under the influence of any alcoholic beverage, malt beverage, fortified wine, intoxicating liquor, illegal drugs, intoxicants, controlled substances, or other useable substances during working hours, including rest breaks and meal breaks.

Employees shall not smoke, ingest, possess, distribute, or be under the influence of tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) or psychoactive cannabis products in the workplace, or at any time during which the employee is working, expected to work, and/or is on duty. The prohibitions of this paragraph apply to all cannabis usage, medicinal and recreational, whether or not lawful under Maine law.

As provided in the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, employees are required to notify the Town Manager (or Designee) of a criminal or civil conviction for drug violation occurring in the workplace no later than five (5) calendar days after such conviction. The Town Manager (or Designee) will:

- <u>Take appropriate personnel action against such employee up to and including termination; and/or</u>
- Require the employee to satisfactorily participate in a substance use disorder treatment or rehabilitation program.
- Take appropriate personnel action against such employee up to and including termination; and/or

6.17: Smoking

Smoking of tobacco products is prohibited in any buildings/facilities owned by the Town. Employees are allowed to use tobacco products during their break times but must be outside of a building, away from any public entrances or within a designated smoking area and should not interfere with any person conducting business with the Town. No litter associated with tobacco may be discarded on or in Town property.

SECTION 7: PAYROLL AND WORK SCHEDULES

7.1: Payroll

Payroll payments are made on a bi-weekly basis, outlined in 4.10 of this personnel handbook, to every employee for salary or wages earned. Pay days are on every other Wednesday, with direct deposit commencing on said day.

<u>Direct Deposit:</u> The Town requires employees to use direct deposit for payroll to the financial institute of their choice. The Town does not make payroll advances to its employees, nor does the Town make loans to employees.

Overcompensation - Pursuant to State Statute Title 26 §635: In the event of overcompensation, the Town will not withhold more than 5% of the net amount during subsequent pay periods without the employee's written permission, except under the circumstance of the employee voluntarily terminating employment, the Town will deduct the full amount of overcompensation from any wages due. The town may not exceed the amount of overcompensation paid to the employee in the three years preceding the date of discovery of overcompensation. The Town may deduct more than 5% of net pay if:

- The employee agrees in writing;
- The employee voluntarily quits, or
- The employee "knowingly accepts" the overcompensation

For the purpose of this section, *net amount*, means the amount of money due an employee as compensation after any deductions or withholdings other than the Town's withholdings for the purpose of recovering any overcompensation.

<u>Tax Withholding Forms:</u> The Town follows IRS guidelines and rules for tax withholding forms (Federal W-4 and Maine Withholding). Employees may amend their tax withholding forms and it will be the employee's responsibility to determine and elect the appropriate tax withholding from wages. Tax withholding forms are available from the <u>Treasurer. Finance and Human Resources Officer.</u>

7.2: Time Cards and Time Clock.

The Town is required to keep records of hours worked by its non-exempt employees. Non-exempt employees will record their work hours by using a time clock system. In the event the time clock system is not in function, non-exempt employees will record their work hours in

writing and report the record to the Treasurer Finance and Human Resources Officer (or Designee) for processing payroll.

7.3: Discretionary Time Off for Exempt Employees

Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) Exempt employees are required to work outside the normal schedule of working or office hours and are compensated on the basis of accomplishing the tasks demanded of the position without regard for specific number of hours worked. Exempt employees are not eligible for overtime pay or compensatory time.

Exempt employees may take occasional discretionary time off without applying paid time off accruals for such time off taken when:

- A. It does not interfere with department operations, or the operations of other departments.
- B. With prior approval by the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee)

7.4: Temporary Telecommuting (Remote Work) Policy

Employees may on occasion need to conduct their work by Telecommuting/Remote work methods, such as when an employee works any hours from a location other than Town facilities. Telework arrangements can provide a mutually beneficial option for both the Twon and its employees. Employees are expected to be responsible in their conduct of remote work and ensure that work goals can be met.

The Town Manager (or Designee) will determine which positions are most suitable for temporary remote work options and shall make their determination based on the Town's needs and the positions' responsibilities. Not all jobs can be performed from off-site locations. Positions requiring face-to-face interaction with customers and office personnel may not be suitable for telecommuting.

At the discretion of the Town Manager (or Designee) the eligibility of telecommuting/ remote work options of an employee may be revoked. Notice of revocation shall be given as far in advance as possible but is not required. Reasons for revocation may include, but is not limited to, failure to follow applicable policies and procedures, changes in job responsibilities, limited or significantly decreased necessity, and any other reason as determined by the Town Manager (or Designee).

Employees must be able to carry out the same duties, assignments, and other work obligations when working remotely as they would when working on Town premises. Candidates for temporary telecommuting arrangements must demonstrate good time-management and

organizational skills, be self-motivated and self-reliant. Employees are expected to demonstrate professional conduct when engaging in remote meetings, webinars, trainings, etc.

As a general rule, the Town will not be responsible for costs associated with the setup of an employee's remote workspace, such as remodeling, furniture, or lighting, nor for repairs or modifications to the remote workspace. However, if the employee is in need of a reasonable accommodation in accordance with the American's with Disabilities Act (ADA), an employee shall follow the process as outlined in section 2.4 of this Personnel Policy Handbook.

<u>Town Records:</u> During remote work, employees shall be required to maintain all work product and records in a manner consistent with the Town's standard record keeping practices and in full compliance with the Maine Freedom of Access Act and Records Retention Rules established by the Maine State Archivist. Employees shall not delete or destroy any records that are otherwise required to be maintained by the Town per these laws and rules. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to ensure he or she can satisfy these record keeping requirements while working remotely.

Emergency Telecommuting/ Remote work: In the event of an emergency such as inclement weather, emergency closures or pandemic, the Town Manager (or Designee) may allow or require employees eligible for remote work to temporarily work from home to ensure continuity in business and productivity. Employees are required to follow any and all guidelines provided by related policies and procedures.

Determining equipment needs for each employee will be on a case-by-case basis. Any employee with accessibility to perform remote work is expected to follow and adhere to the Town's Acceptable Use Policy. Employees are expected to use any assigned Town-owned equipment for Town business purposes only. Employees must keep equipment safe and avoid any misuse. Additionally, other sections including 6.9 of this Personnel Policy Handbook shall apply.

Violations of this policy or any other related policies and procedures shall be grounds for disciplinary action up to and including termination.

7.5: Pay at Separation

Upon retirement or separation in good standing from the Town, an employee will receive a percentage of their accumulated Paid Time Off accruals (PTO) or Earned Paid Leave accruals (EPL), whichever applies, as separation pay in their final paycheck. "Good standing" shall mean fourteen (14) ten (10) working days' notice to the Town in advance of the employees last actual day worked, in the case of proper resignation (section 4.12 of this Personnel Policy Handbook), valid retirement, or separation of the employee from the Town service for other than cause. The percentage amount is determined by the following:

- A. Upon retirement or separation in good standing, an employee who has completed one full year of employment, whether full-time or part-time, and up to ten (10) consecutive years from the date of hire, shall receive 35% of their accumulated PTO or EPL accruals in their final paycheck.
- B. Upon retirement or separation in good standing, after ten (10) years of continuous full-time or part-time employment, the employee shall receive 50% of their accumulated PTO or EPL accruals in their final paycheck.
- C. Upon retirement or separation in good standing, after twenty (20) years of continuous full-time or part-time employment, the employee shall receive 70% of their accumulated PTO or EPL accruals in their final paycheck.
- D. If an employee dies, 100% of their accumulated PTO or EPL accruals will be paid to the estate of the decedent unless otherwise directed by a probate court.

SECTION 8: BENEFITS

8.1: Health and Life Insurance

Health Insurance Benefits: The Town will provide a Maine Municipal Association (MMA) group insurance plan, which provides Maine Municipal Employees' Health Trust medical coverage. The Town's MMA Employees' Health Trust coverage and level of service shall be established by the Select Board during the budgeting process. Currently the Town offers a POS C with a 100% employer share for a Single Plan and will pay 70% of the difference of a single plan and that of a family two-person, or employee and child(ren) plan.

Regular Full-Time employees and their families are eligible to participate. An employee must apply for coverage during open enrollment. The Town does not automatically enroll employees under any coverage plans. Employees are responsible for applying for any changes in coverage during the open enrollment period. Coverage will begin the first month following the employees' hire date.

<u>Insurance Opt-Out:</u> Any Regular Full-Time employee who does not elect to receive health insurance benefits and *can demonstrate they have eligible insurance coverage*, (Looking into keeping the same or changing wording) shall be eligible to receive 50% of the equivalence to a single plan, biweekly through payroll.

<u>Life Insurance Benefits:</u> All Regular Full-Time employees of the Town are eligible for basic life insurance equal to one year of their annual salary as provided by State Statute and established by the Select Board <u>annually</u>. Upon the first month after the employee's hire date, coverage shall be automatically applied. If an employee does not participate in the Town's health insurance

coverage, they will also receive the Town's life insurance benefits unless the employee refuses life insurance coverage in writing.

<u>Supplemental Life Insurance Coverage:</u> Above what the Town will cover for basic life insurance Regular Full-Time employees of the Town are eligible to opt in to supplemental Life Insurance coverage at the cost to the employee. Available Supplemental Life Insurance Coverage is as outlined below:

- Life Insurance equal to two (2) years of an employee's annual salary where the Town will cover the cost of one year and the employee will cover the cost of the additional second year.
- Life Insurance equal to three (3) years of an employee's annual salary where the Town will cover the cost of one year and the employee will cover the cost of the additional two years. The insurance company may request access to an employees' medical information for this option.
- Dependent Life Insurance is offered to all employees at 100% cost to the employee.

For any employee that is not eligible to receive the above benefits, they shall have the option to opt into any benefit provided by the Town at 100% cost to the employee.

8.2: Dental and Vision Insurance

The Town will provide 100% employer share of a single plan for dental insurance for Regular Full-Time employees. Any employee that is not eligible for the single plan for dental, the employee may opt in for this benefit at 100% cost to the employee. For additional supplemental or family dental plans, any employee may elect to opt in at 100% cost to the employee.

Vision insurance is provided to any employee at 100% cost to the employee.

8.3: Income Protection Plan (IPP)

The Town offers Income Protection Plans to Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time employees to help cover the employee in the event of serious injury or illness where the employee must take an extended leave. Eligible employees can elect to opt in <u>at 100% cost to the employee</u> to one of three plan options;

- Income protection up to 40% of the employees weekly salary
- Income protection up to 55% of the employees weekly salary
- Income protection up to 70% of the employees weekly salary

8.4: Retirement

All Regular Full-Time employees may elect to participate in Town sponsored retirement programs. The Town will only provide employer contributions to a single plan for each eligible employee. The Town currently offers eligible employees the option of a Maine Public Employees Retirement System (MainePERS) plan or a Mission Square 457 (b) Retirement plan. All Regular Part-Time employees may participate in the 457 (b) Retirement plan and the Town will provide contributions as listed out under section B, below:

- A. MainePERS: New employees must elect whether to participate in the MainePERS within two (2) weeks of their date of hire. Under federal law, an employee elected in MainePERS will not be able to leave the MainePERS plan for the duration of their employment with the Town. If an employee declines to join MainePERS, they will not be able to later elect to join MainePERS. The MainePERS plan is a Defined Benefit (DB) pension plan. Employees contribute a percentage of earnings to MainePERS. The Town will also contribute a set amount to MainePERS on behalf of employees. Participants in MainePERS and enrollees may also contribute to the Towns Mission Square 457 (b) plan, however the Town will only match contributions to MainePERS if an employee contributes to both MainePERS and Mission Square 457 (b)
- B. <u>Mission Square 457 (b)</u>: Eligible employees may elect to participate in the Town's 457 (b) Retirement Plan at hire or any time during employment. If the employee selects this as their primary retirement plan, the Town will match employee contributions up to 6%. Employees may contribute additional amounts so long as it's in compliance with federal regulations., however the Town will not match anything above 6%.

<u>Social Security:</u> The Town provides Social Security and Medicare coverage in compliance with federal law to all employees.

8.5: Open Enrollment

The open enrollment period will be once a year during a period established by the Maine Municipal Employee Health Trust. During the open enrollment period, employees are able to:

- Enroll in health, dental, and vision plans
- Add or remove dependents from health, dental, and vision plans
- Drop coverage in health, dental, and vision plans
- Employees who elect to drop coverage in the Town's health plan may be asked to
 provide verification of coverage from a parent, spouse, or domestic partner's insurance
 plan.

<u>In certain life-event situations, employees may be able to opt in outside of the normal open enrollment period.</u> For questions about Open Enrollment dates and how to make changes, please contact the <u>Department of Finance and Human Resources Officer.</u>

8.6: Workers' Compensation

The Town participates in a federally mandated Worker's Compensation program. The following actions are required by employees:

- I. All injuries to personnel, no matter how minor, during the work schedule will be reported immediately to the Town Manager (or Designee), but in no event later than sixty (60) days after the date of injury. Maine law requires the Town to file a First Report of Injury with Workers' Compensation within seven (7) days of receiving notice of the injury.
- II. An employee suffering from an on-the-job injury will be sent to a medical facility, specified by the Town, for examination at the Town's expense.
- III. The employee will receive their normal pay for that day, and if eligible may be entitled to use Paid Time Off (PTO) for any regularly scheduled time missed between the incident and the date that workers' compensation benefits may begin.

8.7: Unemployment

Federal and State law govern unemployment benefits. The Town provides such benefits as mandated under these laws.

8.8: Holidays

The Town of Lyman recognizes all holidays as currently recognized by the State of Maine.

New Year's Day

Labor Day

Martin Luther King Jr. Day Indigenous Peoples' Day

Presidents' Day
Patriot's Day
Memorial Day
Veteran's Day
Thanksgiving Day
Day after Thanksgiving

Juneteenth Day Christmas Day

Independence Day

If a regular holiday falls on a Sunday, the following Monday is considered a holiday; If on Saturday, the proceeding Friday is considered a holiday. For Christmas Day and/or New Year's Day; if said holiday falls on a Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday or Friday, the work day prior will be a half day.

Paid holidays will be granted to all Regular Full-Time employees. Regular Part-Time employees whose normal work schedule falls on the holiday, will receive holiday pay equal to the hours the employee would normally work that day.

An employee on approved unpaid leave, such as unpaid extended sick leave or leave of absence, shall not be entitled to holiday pay.

8.9: Paid Time Off (PTO)

Regular Full-Time employees are eligible to earn Paid Time Off (PTO) accruals to cover any sick leave, personal days, or vacation time. The Town encourages employees to use their PTO accruals and take time off to enhance a positive work/life balance. Employees may use their PTO accruals at any time after their date of hire pending approval from a Supervisor/ Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee).

<u>Time Off Request Using PTO:</u>

Requests for use of PTO accruals shall be submitted to the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) in a timely manner. The Supervisor/Department Head shall approve time off requests for employees working within their department. The Town Manager (or Designee) shall approve time off requests for Supervisors/Department Heads. If the request is denied, the authorizer shall provide in writing the reason for denial.

<u>Time Off Requests Without PTO:</u>

Requests for time off shall be submitted as stated above. However, when the balance of PTO is insufficient to cover the requested length of time off, the authorizing Supervisor/Department Head shall have discretion to approve or deny the request. If the request is approved, the employee may use any remaining balance to cover any portion of the requested time off and in excess of the available PTO the remainder of requested time off shall be unpaid. If the request is denied, the authorizer shall provide in writing the reason for denial. In extenuating circumstances, such as bodily injuries unrelated to worker's comp, prevention of communicable illness among others in the workplace environment, and any other such circumstances, the Town Manager (or Designee) may approve or deny the use of future, unaccrued PTO hours for the employee on a short-term basis.

All Approved PTO requests will be submitted by the authorizing Supervisor/Department Head to the Finance Department and Human Resources Officer for payroll purposes.

If a holiday falls within the employee's time off period, the employee shall not have that day charged against their accumulated PTO. "*Holiday*" shall be defined by section 8.8 of this Personnel Policy Handbook.

All Regular Full-Time employees eligible for PTO accruals will be able to roll over any unused PTO accruals or up to a maximum of 35% of their annual accruals, whichever is lesser. Rollover of PTO will be effective each year on July 1 and will be automatic.

Any eligible PTO payout will be as follows under section 7.5.

<u>Exempt Employees:</u> Accruals will be calculated bi-weekly at a prorated amount based on the Specific Eligibility Table under this section of the Personnel Policy Handbook.

Non-Exempt Employees: Accruals are prorated based on the number of their regular scheduled hours worked and will not exceed a regular schedule of forty (40) hours per week.

<u>Specific Eligibility of PTO:</u> This table is based on 37.5 hours worked per week. Years of service shall be continuous for employee eligibility.

Years of continuous service	Paid Time Off (PTO) hours
0 through 2 years	105
3 through 5 years	145
6 through 15 years	183
Over 15 years	245

8.10: Employee Recognition Program

The Town of Lyman believes recognizing employees' achievements is essential for raising staff moral and engagement. As part of the recognition program merit pay may be awarded. See section 4.10 for the Performance Based Merit Program. Additionally, the Town Manager may coordinate with the Select Board other special events, awards, incentives, or gifts for recognition of employees and volunteers of the Town. The program will be dependent on available funding.

SECTION 9: EMPLOYEE LEAVE

9.1: Personal Days

Any Regular Full-Time or Regular Part-Time employee will receive time allocation equal to two (2) regular scheduled work days. Personal time does not accrue year to year and is not subject to pay out at separation.

Whenever possible, personal time must be requested and approved by the Supervisor/ Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee). Personal time will be applied for the regular scheduled hours of the day(s) being requested. The Town also recognizes employees' ability to use time consistent with Maine's Earned Paid Leave Law.

9.2: Earned Paid Leave

The Town of Lyman provides Earned Paid Leave (EPL) pursuant to State law Title 26 M.R.S.A sec. 1043(11).

All employees under section 4.3 of this Personnel Policy Handbook are eligible for EPL accruals. The Town provides a benefit greater than EPL to Regular Full-Time employees through its Paid Time Off (PTO) policies under section 8.9. To comply with Maine's Earned Paid Leave Law, eligible employees may utilize up to 40 hours of accrued benefit time during the calendar year for any type of time off as needed.

Accrual of Earned Paid Leave: All eligible employees, other than Regular Full-Time employees, are entitled to earn one hour of paid leave for every 40 hours worked, up to a maximum of 40 hours in one year of employment. Accruals begin at the start of employment. Any unused EPL will roll over into the next fiscal year of employment. However, the maximum amount of EPL available to the employee will not exceed 40 hours in one year. Rollover of EPL will be effective each year on July 1 and will be automatic.

<u>Time Off Requests Using EPL:</u>

Requests for use of EPL accruals shall be submitted to the Supervisor/ Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) in a timely manner. If the request is denied, the authorizer shall provide in writing the reason for denial.

<u>Time Off Requests Without EPL:</u>

Requests for time off shall be submitted as stated above. However, when the balance of EPL is insufficient to cover the requested length of time off, the authorizing Supervisor/Department Head shall have discretion to approve or deny the request. If the request is approved, the employee may use any remaining balance to cover any portion of the requested time off and in excess of the available EPL the remainder of requested time off shall be unpaid. If the request is denied, the authorizer shall provide in writing the reason for denial. In extenuating circumstances, such as bodily injuries unrelated to worker's comp, prevention of communicable illness among others in the workplace environment, and any other such circumstances, the Town Manager (or Designee) may approve or deny the use of future, unaccrued EPL hours for the employee on a short-term basis.

All approved EPL requests will be submitted by the authorizing Supervisor/Department Head to the Finance Department for payroll purposes.

Any eligible EPL payout will be as follows under section 7.5.

9.3: Extended Sick Leave

A Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time employee may be granted extended sick leave for his or her own serious medical condition by the Town Manager (or Designee). Requests for extended sick leave will be evaluated on a case by case basis an will be considered under the following provisions:

- A. The employee provides the Town Manager (or Designee), no later than three (3) weeks prior to the conclusion of the employee's 12 weeks of Family Medical Leave, satisfactory medical certification from their personal physician that an extension is necessary, including duration of extension.
- B. Employees who have been notified that they do not qualify for leave under the Maine FMLA or FLMA and have requested extended sick leave will also be asked to provide medical certification from a health care provider that provides an estimate of the duration of incapacity.
- C. The employee will be required to utilize all available benefit leaves, including Paid Time Off, Earned Paid Leave, and Personal Days during all periods of extended sick leave.
- D. The employee will not accrue benefit time during any portion of unpaid sick extended sick leave, nor will the employee be eligible for holiday pay during extended sick leave.

9.3: Leave for Victims of Domestic Violence

In accordance with Maine law, the Town will grant employees reasonable and necessary amount of unpaid leave if the employee or the employee's child, parent, or spouse is a is a victim of domestic violence, domestic assault, sexual assault or stalking, and if he/she needs time to prepare for or attend court hearing, receive medical treatment, or obtain necessary services to remedy a crisis caused by domestic violence.

As soon as an employee becomes aware of the need of a leave of absence, they must make a written request to the Town Manager (or Designee). If leave is approved, the employee will be required to first use any accrued Paid Time Off (PTO).

The Town will grant reasonable and necessary paid or unpaid leave from work for eligible Regular Full Time and Regular Part Time employees who are victims of domestic violence, stalking, or sexual assault as provided in State law Title 26 M.R.S.A sec. (Employment Leave for Victims of Violence).

The employee will be granted leave to prepare for and attend court proceedings, receive medical treatment, or attend to medical treatment for a victim who is the employee's daughter, son, parent, or spouse, or obtain necessary services to remedy a crisis caused by domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking.

The leave must be needed because the employee or the employee's child, parent, or spouse is a victim of violence, assault, or sexual assault under Title 17-A, Chapter 11, or stalking or any other act that would support an order for protection under Title 19-A, chapter 101. As soon an employee becomes aware of the need of a leave of absence, they must make a written request for leave to the Town Manger (or Designee). The request must specify the length of leave and determine how much Paid Time Off (PTO) is being requested. Employees who have no such leave banked and accrued shall receive unpaid leave.

9.4: Military Leave

The Town complies with all State and Federal law, governing the rights of employees who are entitled to leave and other rights and obligations applying to their military service. All employees in the military service will be granted time off from work for annual training obligations or active service in the Military. (as defined below). Employees engaged in active military service will be placed on military leave of absence status. Employees receiving orders for military training or service should notify their Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) of the dates of their military service as far in advance as possible unless military necessity prevents such notice.

Military leave and rights to re-employment after such leave are available to employees under the terms and conditions of applicable Federal and State law, as may be amended from time to time.

Military Leave Without Loss of Pay:

Employees (including employees who hold acting capacity and project appointments) are allowed up to seventeen (17) workdays in each calendar year without loss of pay or benefits when engaged in any form of military duty. The employee must furnish the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) with an official statement signed by authority giving the employee's rank, pay, and allowance during the employee's seventeen (17) day period. The employer will pay the difference, if any, between the employee's regular pay and military leave pay up to seventeen (17) days per year.

Military Leave Without Pay:

When military service exceeds the 17 workdays authorized for military leave with pay, the employee must be placed on unpaid military leave. Employees may use, but are not required to use, accrued Paid Time Off (PTO), Earned Paid Leave (EPL), Personal Days, etc. when entering unpaid military service. Provisions for the optional use of Paid Time Off, Earned Paid Leave,

Personal Days, etc. also to apply to employees who are called to active State duty by the Governor. Employees should determine which paid leave they wish to use and a fixed amount to use each pay period with Town Manager (or Designee) who will submit to the Department of Finance for payroll purposes prior to going out on leave.

Maintenance of Benefits:

An employee shall be entitled to maintain health insurance coverage on the same basis as if they had continued to work for the Town. To maintain uninterrupted coverage, the employee will be required to continue paying their share of insurance premium payments. If an employee is receiving concurrent PTO or EPL time, the premium will be deducted from the paycheck, as is normally the practice. The Town will bill for benefit premiums in the case that the employee is unpaid. Employees may opt for automatic ACH withdrawal to cover benefits costs. The payment shall be made by the 15th of each month. If the employee's payment is more than sixty (60) days overdue, the Town will no longer maintain the coverage.

Re-Employment:

The guiding principle of the USERRA and Maine law is that an employee performing military service is not to suffer any detriment in employment and should be treated as if he or she had not left employment. State employees who enter military service retain reemployment rights under both the *Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994* and Maine law. Exceptions are narrowly restricted to persons who hold temporary, non-recurrent employment. Although certain criteria are required for an employee to exercise his or her reemployment rights, denial of reemployment to a returning service member should be considered an extraordinary situation. Human resource professionals should be consulted if any adverse action is contemplated.

An employee who enters military service on a short-term basis would generally be returned to the position that he or she left. Employees who enter military service on a long term basis would be returned to the position that he or she left or be returned to a position of like status and pay for which he or she is qualified. Agency human resource representatives should be consulted if denial of reemployment for any reason is contemplated.

Upon the completion of service (less than 31 days, including weekend drills) employees are also entitled to reasonable time for return travel, and an eight hour period of rest, before returning to work. The allotted time to apply for reemployment increases incrementally, depending upon the length of service. Departmental human resource representatives should be consulted in unusual situations.

9.5: Family Medical Leave

<u>The Town complies with</u> the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) <u>of which</u> entitles eligible employees of covered employers to take unpaid, job-protected leave for specified family and medical reasons. FLMA will run concurrently with all other leave and leave benefits, including but not limited to, Workers' Compensation, Maine FMLA and will run even while the employee

is using their own accrued leave (such as Paid Time Off and Earned Paid Leave). <u>Family Medical Leave and rights to re-employment after such leave are available to employees under the terms and conditions of applicable Federal and State law, as may be amended from time to time.</u>

Eligible Employees:

Only eligible employees are entitled to take FMLA leave. An *eligible employee* is one who:

- Works for a *covered employer* (The Town of Lyman)
- Has worked for the employer for at least 12 months.
- Has at least 1,250 hours of service for the employer during the 12-month period immediately preceding the leave.

The 12 months of employment do not have to be consecutive. That means any time previously worked for the same employer (including seasonal work) could, in most cases, be used to meet the 12-month requirement. If the employee has a break in service that lasted seven years or more, the time worked prior to the break will not count *unless* the break is due to service covered by the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), or there is a written agreement, outlining the employer's intention to rehire the employee after the break in service.

Leave Entitlement:

An eligible employee shall be entitled to twelve (12) work weeks of unpaid leave during a twelve (12) month period for one or more of the following reasons:

- the birth or placement of a child for adoption or foster care.
- to care for a spouse, child, or parent who has a serious health condition.
- for a serious health condition* that causes the employee to be unable to perform the essential functions of their job; or
- For any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that a spouse, child, or parent is a military member on covered active duty or call to covered active-duty status.
- a serious health condition, which shall be defined as an illness of a serious and long-term nature resulting in recurring or lengthy absences. Treatment of such an illness would occur in an inpatient situation at a hospital, hospice, or residential medical care facility, or would consist of continuing care provided by a licensed health care provider.

A serious health condition means an accident, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves either inpatient care or continuing treatment by a health care provider.

When both spouses are employed by the Town, they are each entitled to twelve (12) work weeks of family leave for the birth or placement of a child for adoption or foster care, and to care for a parent who has a serious health condition.

An eligible employee may also take up to 26 work weeks of leave during a "single 12-month period" to care for a covered servicemember with a serious injury or illness, when the employee is the spouse, child, parent, or next of kin of the servicemember. The "single 12-month period"

for military caregiver leave is different from the 12-month period used for other FMLA leave reasons.

Under some circumstances, employees may take FMLA leave on an intermittent or reduced schedule basis. That means an employee may take leave in separate blocks of time or by reducing the time he or she works each day or week for a single qualifying reason. When leave is needed for planned medical treatment, the employee must make a reasonable effort to schedule treatment so as not to unduly disrupt the employer's operations. If FMLA leave is for the birth, adoption, or foster placement of a child, use of intermittent or reduced schedule leave requires the employer's approval.

The Town requires employees to "substitute" (run concurrently) accrued Paid Time Off (PTO) or Earned Paid Leave (EPL) to cover all the FMLA leave period. However, employees may maintain up to forty (40) hours of PTO time for future time off.

Notice:

Employees must provide notice as far in advance as possible or as soon as possible and practicable under the circumstances.

If the Town acquires knowledge that a leave may be for a FMLA-qualifying reason, the Town will provide the employee with notice concerning their eligibility for FMLA leave and their rights and responsibilities under the FMLA. The Town will also notify employees whether leave is designated as FMLA leave and the amount of leave that will be deducted from the employees' FMLA entitlement.

Certification:

In the event an employee is requesting a leave, or the employer has acquired information the employee is going to be on leave due to their own serious health condition or a covered family member's serious health condition, the Town may require certification in support of the leave from a health care provider.

FMLA is generally unpaid, however, an employee may substitute any paid leave available to the employee under the Town's policy (such as PTO or EPL). Employees should determine which paid leave they wish to use and a fixed amount to use each pay period with the Department of Finance and Human Resources Officer for payroll purposes prior to going on leave.

Maintenance of Benefits:

An employee shall be entitled to maintain group health insurance coverage on the same basis as if they had continued to work at the Town. To maintain uninterrupted coverage, the employee will be required to continue paying their share of insurance premium payments. If an employee is receiving concurrent PTO or EPL time, the premium will be deducted from the paycheck, as is normally the practice. The Town will bill for benefits premiums in the case that the employee is unpaid. Employees may opt for an automatic ACH withdrawal to cover benefits costs. The

payment shall be made by the 15th of each month. If the employee's payment is more than sixty (60) days overdue, the Town will no longer maintain the coverage.

If the employee informs the Town that they do not intend to return to work at the end of the leave period, the Town's obligation to provide health benefits ends. Vacation, sick, and holidays will not accrue beyond the twelve (12) weeks leave period, consistent with the Town's leave policies, unless the employee is utilizing available accrued vacation, sick, or personal time. However, the use of family or medical leave will not be considered a break in service when vesting or eligibility to participate in benefit programs is being determined. Seniority of position is not affected.

Job Restoration:

Upon return from FMLA leave, an employee shall be restored to their original job or to an equivalent job with equivalent pay, benefits, and other terms and conditions of employment.

Employees accepting employment elsewhere while on FML may be disciplined, up to and including discharge.

9.6: Maine Family Medical Leave

If not eligible for FMLA, an employee may qualify for Maine Family Meical Leave (MFML). To be eligible under MFML, an employee is required to have worked for the Town for 12 consecutive months. Under the Maine Family Medical Leave Act, employees are (1) eligible for 10 work weeks of unpaid FML (2) during a two-year period (3) for the employee's serious health condition, the birth or adoption of a child, including a domestic partner's child, the serious health condition of a child or grandchild, domestic partner's child and grandchild, domestic partner or spouse, sibling, or death of an employee's spouse, domestic partner, parent, sibling, or child who is a covered service member who dies while on active duty.

Request for MFML will be analyzed under both Maine and Federal FMLA.

9.7: Parental Leave

Regular Full-Time or Regular Part-time employees who have completed at least one full year of employment with the Town will be granted an additional four (4) weeks of paid time upon the birth or adoption of their child to be used concurrently with Family Medical Leave. Such time shall be used in addition to the employee's current Paid Time Off (PTO) balance. Parental Leave expires twelve (12) months after the date of birth or placement.

Regular Full-Time or Regular Part-Time employees who have completed one full year of employment with the Town will be eligible for an additional twelve (12) weeks of paid leave upon the birth or adoption of their child and/or children to be used concurrently with Family

Medical Leave if applicable. Such time shall be used in addition to the employee's current Paid Time Off (PTO) balance. Parental Leave expires twelve (12) weeks after the date of birth or placement.

Requests for paid parental leave shall be submitted to the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee). Requests shall be made in a timely manner at least 30 days prior to the proposed date of leave (or if the leave was not foreseeable, as soon as possible). All Approved requests for Parental Leave will be submitted by the authorizing Supervisor/Department Head to the Finance and Human Resources Officer Department for payroll purposes.

Employees will receive no more than twelve (12) weeks paid parental leave. Employees may elect to use PTO accruals in excess of the 12 weeks paid parental leave granted and with approval from the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee)

9.8: Bereavement

All Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time employees shall receive bereavement leave as provided by the town. In the event of the death of an employee's spouse, legally recognized partner, children, mother, father, or legal guardian, the employee shall be granted five (5) days' leave of absence, with full pay, to make household and service arrangements and attend death services. In the event of the death of an employee's sister, brother, stepparents, stepchildren, grandmother, grandfather, spouse's grandparents or grandchildren, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister in-law, or brother in-law, the employee shall be granted up to three (3) days' leave for absence, with full pay, to make household adjustments and arrange for or attend the death services. For relatives other than mentioned above, such as aunt, uncle, niece, nephew or first cousin, the employee may use available personal time, Paid Tim Off (PTO), or Earned Paid Leave (EPL) for absences. The employee may be required to furnish their immediate supervisor with proof of death.

9.<u>9</u>: Jury Duty

Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time employees who are called for jury duty should promptly notify their Supervisor/ Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) to ensure appropriate arrangements are made. The employee will receive his or her regular paycheck and are required to forward payments received for their jury duty to the Department of Finance and Human Resources Officer, with the exception of mileage reimbursement. This procedure will compensate employees for any difference in pay. Employees excused from jury duty must report back to work if it is during their normal working hours.

9.10: Life Threatening Illness

In the event an employee submits a physician's certification to the Town Manager (or Designee) that the employee has a life-threatening illness and is expected to result in premature death, the Town Manager (or Designee) may make an exception to the existing sick leave and PTO/EPL sections of this Personnel Policy Handbook and pay the employee's entire accrual record to the employee.

9.12: Absent Without Leave

An employee absent from work for five (5) consecutive days without approved leave shall be absent without leave. The employee shall be considered terminated after written notice, by the Town Manager (or Designee), to the employee (or the employee's last known address).

SECTION 10: REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES

10.1: Mileage Compensation

Employees required to drive personal vehicles for approved, legitimate municipal purposes shall be compensated by the Town at the amounts set by the IRS Per Diem daily rates (when government rates are available), the IRS mileage reimbursement rate, or another rate agreed to by the Town Manager (or Designee). Compensation may be approved as a "reimbursement" under an Accountable Plan. Elected Officials, Volunteers, and those appointed to Boards, Committees, or Commissions are excluded from mileage compensation benefits unless otherwise approved by the Town Manager (or Designee) for specific purposes, excluding regular meetings.

Employees will be paid by an approved appropriation in the departmental budget. The appropriation will be in the best interest of the Town. Travel will be accomplished at the least cost to the Town. Expenses incurred in excess of the approved appropriation will be subject to approval by the Town Manager (or Designee).

<u>Accountable Plan – Mileage Reimbursement:</u>

Eligible mileage reimbursement will be granted at the prevailing IRS rate per mile if using personal vehicles for approved business-related travel. Home to office travel is not compensable.

The Town shall reimburse employees for business travel at the lesser of (a.) mileage from home to destination (excluding "normal place of business". For the purpose of this policy, "normal

place of business" shall mean the location the employee works on a day-to-day basis), or (b.) mileage from normal place of business to destination.

Employees are responsible for documenting all travel logs on the official mileage reimbursement log approved by the Town Manager (or Designee). All travel logs shall be submitted to the Town Manager for approval on a monthly basis. At the discretion of the Town Manager (or Designee), travel logs may be submitted on a every other month or quarterly basis and such requests will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis.

10.2: Meals, Lodging and Other Expenses

Meals:

The Town will reimburse employees for meal expenses incurred in the event of long-term arrangements, such as the necessity for overnight lodging (i.e. attending training beyond the employee's residency where travel to and from would create an unreasonable burden on the employee). The employee must furnish all detailed meal receipts for reimbursement (a summary of the total paid will not be accepted). The Town will reimburse up to \$40 per meal. The Town will not reimburse for the items:

- Sales Tax
- Alcoholic beverages, movies, admissions, and personal incidental expenses that may be incurred while traveling for work-related purposes but are not otherwise related to or necessary for the performance of work.

The Town does not encourage employees to purchase any goods or services for the Town. However, under certain circumstances, such as emergencies or unusual events an employee may make appropriate purchases upon approval of the Town Manager (or Designee) and provided that other means of the Town's Purchasing Procedure was not reasonable given the circumstances.

10.3: Parking Fees and Tolls

Employees will be reimbursed for parking fees and tolls provided that the cost was incurred during travel for legitimate Town business. The employee shall document such fee(s) incurred with their travel logs and additionally shall furnish all appropriate receipts. The Town will not reimburse employees for parking tickets and/or motor vehicle violations or infractions.

10.4: Reimbursement Procedure

Employees shall submit any required official forms with attached <u>itemized</u> receipts, if applicable, no later than thirty (30) days to the Town Manager (or Designee) for approval.

SECTION 11: MISCELLANEOUS

11.1: Freedom of Access Act Policy

All employees are expected to adhere to the Town's Freedom of Access Act Policy entitled "Town of Lyman, Maine Policy Governing Access to Public Records Under the Freedom of Accesses Act". Refer to this policy for procedural details.

Additionally, all Town records, whether classified as public or confidential, are the property of the Town of Lyman including but not limited to; final and/or draft form documents; emails either sent, received, junk, draft, or deleted; audio and/or video recordings; any data, text, and voicemail on Town cellular devices, historical records, and any other record required to be maintained in accordance to the Maine State Archives Local Government Record Retention Schedules. All Town records will be maintained in accordance with State and Federal law.

<u>Training:</u> Any employee required by State law Title 1 M.R.S sec. 412 shall complete the minimum requirements of training within 120 days of their oath of office. If the oath is annual, then the training must be completed annually.

No employee shall destroy and/or permanently remove any record of the Town either knowingly or unknowingly and any violation will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination. Any employee found in violation shall be responsible for the cost for recreation and/or replacement of said documents.

11.2: Severability

If any provision of this Personnel Policy Handbook to any person or circumstance(s) is held invalid, this invalidity does not affect other provisions or applications of the Employee Personnel Policy Handbook which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application. For this purpose, the Employee Personnel Policy is severable.

11.3: Amendments & Interpretation

The Town of Lyman reserves the right to unilaterally amend, delete, modify or change these polices without prior notice and at any time for any reason. The Select Board and Town Manager (or Designee) shall review these policies at least on an annual basis. The Town Manager (or Designee) and Town Select Board shall have exclusive and final authority to interpret these polices.

11.4: Definitions

Appointed Official: Anyone appointed to a board or committee to perform duties in the capacity of that board or committee.

Designee: A person, employed by the Town, who has been assigned specific duties and/or employment role(s)

Employee: An individual working for the Town on a permanent or temporary basis drawing wage or a stipend from the Town <u>and as classified in section 4.3.</u>

Financial Interest: A direct or indirect interest having monetary or pecuniary value, including, but not limited to, the ownership of shares of stock.

Immediate Family: Spouse, children, parents, siblings, including step, half, and in-law relations, a domestic partner of a Town official, or persons sharing the same household and intermingling financial assets with a Town official.

Special Interest: Any interest which will allow some form of personal gain, usually pecuniary in nature.

Town Official: Any elected, appointed, volunteer, or employee of the Town that in their capacity serve a role in the functions or business operations of the municipality or provide any such services related to municipal affairs.

Volunteer: Anyone conducting specific business and/or duties on behalf of the Town as delegated by the Town Manager or Select Board either on a temporary or permanent basis and does not receive wage or stipend from the Town.

This revised policy supersedes any and all prior todate	other Personnel policies adopted and/or revised
Adopted: April 16, 1990	
Revised: September 2, 1997	
Revised: September 6, 1999	
Revised: March 6, 2000	
Revised: August 28, 2002	
Revised: July 5, 2005	
Amended: September 6, 2005	
Amended: September 2, 2008	
Amended: March 1, 2010	
Amended: June 20, 2011	
Amended: August 15, 2011	
Amended: March 2, 2015	
Amended: May 15, 2017	
Amended: September 17, 2018	
Amended: April 16, 2019	
Revised:Date	
Revision/Amendment adopted and signed on this day of,	
	Ralph "Rusty" Blackington - Chair
	Thomas Hatch – Vice Chair
	_Jessica Picard
	_Amber Swett
	Victoria Gavel
A Majority of the Board of Selectpersons	
Lyman, Maine	



Weekly "All Hands"

WEEKLY INCIDENT STATS: 03/18/24 - 03/24/24

Aircraft Incident	
Alarms (Fire / CO)	3
Appliance / Chimney Fire	
Brush / Woods Fire	2
Gas Leaks / Hazmat	
Lines / Trees Down	51
Medical Emergencies	6
Mutual Aid (EMS)	2
Mutual Aid (FIRE)	3

Outside Fires (non-brush)	
Service Call / Public Assist	1
Special / Technical Rescue	
Structure Fire	
Vehicle Crash	7
Vehicle Fire	
Water / Ice Rescue	
WEEK TOTAL	75
YEAR TO DATE (2024)	290
YEAR TO DATE (2023)	212

EMERGENCY INCIDENTS

MONTHLY TOTALS

2023 2024

JAN: **86 92**

FEB: **68 78**

MAR: **69** -

APR: **70** -

MAY: **77** -

JUN: **72** -

JUL: **74** -

AUG: **74** -

SEP: **106** -

OCT: **62** -

NOV: **98** -

DECR: **130** -

Total Incidents (2023): 986

Total Incidents (2022): 897

Total Incidents (2021): 857



Weekly "All Hands"

WEEKLY INCIDENT STATS: 03/11/24 - 03/17/24

Aircraft Incident	
Alarms (Fire / CO)	1
Appliance / Chimney Fire	
Brush / Woods Fire	
Gas Leaks / Hazmat	
Lines / Trees Down	
Medical Emergencies	12
Mutual Aid (EMS)	1
Mutual Aid (FIRE)	3
Odor/Smoke Investigation	

Outside Fires (non-brush)	
Service Call / Public Assist	2
Special / Technical Rescue	
Structure Fire	
Vehicle Crash	3
Vehicle Fire	
Water / Ice Rescue	
WEEK TOTAL	22
YEAR TO DATE (2024)	213
YEAR TO DATE (2023)	199

EMERGENCY INCIDENTS

MONTHLY TOTALS

<u>2023</u> <u>2024</u>

JAN: **86 92**

FEB: **68 78**

MAR: **69** -

APR: **70** -

MAY: **77** -

JUN: **72** -

JUL: **74** -

AUG: **74** - SEP: **106** -

OCT: **62** -

NOV: **98** -

DECR: **130**

Total Incidents (2023): **986**Total Incidents (2022): **897**Total Incidents (2021): **857**

February 2024/2023

	<u></u>	<u>DI Uc</u>	<u> 11 y Z</u>	<u> </u>	2023		7					
Incidents to Date 170/154	 of interest: 2/4 - ATV crash on Kennebunk Pond, transport to MMC 2/8 - Saco Building Fire, Ambulance to the scene, ladder to Cover total of 5 responders. 2/10- Dayton, MVC rollover with ejection, vehicle went rolled approx. 230 feet. 15 Responders from Gmills. 2/16 - Lyman, smoke in the building, grease fire in kitchen, extinguished 						Trainings 4/11					
Emergency Incidents 77/67							Certification 0/1					
Multi Incidents 10/6	• 2/20 - Dayton	pail ignited siding on fire, extinghused by homeowner. 14 members						• 2/20 - Dayton, smoke in the building/structure fire, cigarette disposal pail ignited siding on fire, extinghused by homeowner. 14 members				Work Orders 8/84
All Hands + 1/0 Cardiac Arrest	 2/23 - 15 incidents in one day. 3 MVCs due to weather. Lyman, EMS incidents to same address with Bed Bug infestation, social services involved. 					 2/23 - 15 incidents in one day. 3 MVCs due to weather. Lyman, EMS incidents to same address with Bed Bug infestation, social Career staff						
Mutual Aid Given 30/8	Ladder attaclAmbulance 8	 Ladder attached to rear of Engine 83 broken, truck in service. Ambulance 86 remains Out of Service. 										
Mutual Aid Received 14/5	Incidents by T	Hospitals Tra		17/18	Lyman 46/41		Total Responders					
No Manpower 0/0	SMHC-Bidd			MMC Mercy York		34/37 Those who responded to at least one incident						
0/0	Sivil IC-blud	OWITIO-DIGG OWITIO-Sail. WINTO WIETCY TOTA										



Weekly "All Hands"



Crews conducted training while on duty.



While conducting driver training or returning from an emergency incident please respect posted roads as much as possible. Our trucks are heavy, and heavy vehicles do a number on the roads this time of year. Posted roads are posted to heavy loads when temperatures are above freezing.

Tuesday night's training included hose advancement and ladder throwing.

PRIDE & OWNERSHIP

RESOURCES

- Recognition Form to recognize outstanding performance in our department.
- Fire Responder Assistance Program
- Code Green Campaign
- **EAP**
- https://codegreencampaign.org/
- Electric/Hybrid Vehicle quick reference

EV guide



03/25/24

ITEM#7: (a.) Propane Quotes

Propane Quotes

Eastern Propane: 1.974 per gallon through to June 30th, 2025

Waltz & Sons: 2.37 per gallon up to 1300 gallons

through to April 30th, 2025

Dead River Company: No response

JP Carrol: No response

 From:
 Pat Lavoie

 To:
 Town Manager

 Cc:
 Pat Lavoie

Subject: 24 TO 25 PROPANE BID

Date: Wednesday, March 6, 2024 10:36:38 AM

ATT: LINDSAY GAGNE

THIS IS A FOLLOW UP TO OUR DISCUSSION OF PROPANE SUPPLY FROM APRIL 1 2024 TO MARCH 30 OF

2025.

PRICEI OF FUEL WILL BE \$1.974 PER GALLON FOR THE CONTRACT PERIOD . THE PRICE COULD BE EXTENDED UNTIL JUNE 30 TH IF YOU DESIRE. THIS WOULD PUT YOU INTO A BETTER PRICING PERIOD IN THE IN THE FUTURE. PLEASE CONFIRM RECIEPT.

Pat Lavoie

Energy Consultant Office: 800-523-5237 Cell: 603-312-5980 plavoie@eastern.com







WALTZ & SON'S INC.

P.O. Box 150 ~ Buxton, ME 04093

Phone 929-8898 ~ Fax 929-3190

To: Hollis Town Hall, Attn: Lindsay Gagne **Location:** 11 South Waterboro Rd, Lyman, ME

Date: February 26, 2024

This estimate covers the following work:

Propane supply agreement for May 1st, 2024 through April 30th, 2025 for up to 1300 gallons at single location.

Notes:

Quote valid until April 30th, 2024

LP gas rate will be locked in at \$2.67 per gallon. This price is based on a usage of up to 1300 gallons at 11 South Waterboro Rd, Lyman, ME. Payment of delivered fuel must be paid within 30 days of delivery and before next schedule delivery, whichever comes first.

We also require a signed acceptance prior to any delivery initiation. You can fax or mail it to our office at your convenience.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me. Thank you for allowing us an opportunity to provide you with a quote.

Sincerely, Michael Waltz		
Acceptance Signature	Date	